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Although he didn’t like to do so, Mr Churchill 

ended the stage of the British Empire. That was not his 

subjective will. He said that to President Roosevelt. 

But objectively he ended the British Empire.





Chou En Lai to Henry Kissinger, 20 October 1971.




 






PROLOGUE



ON 10 DECEMBER 1954 a visitor from East Africa was waiting on 

a horsehair sofa in the hallway of 10 Downing Street. Suddenly, 

the small, frail figure of Winston Churchill appeared from behind 

a screen, said, ‘Good afternoon, Mr Blundell,’ and offered him a 

slightly stiffened hand to shake. The two men went together into the 

Cabinet Room. It was only three o’clock but Churchill – smoking 

his customary cigar – ordered them both a strong whisky and soda. 

As they sipped their drinks, their meeting, scheduled to take fifteen 

minutes, spilled out to last forty-five. The topic was the Mau Mau 

rebellion against British colonial rule in Kenya; and Michael 

Blundell, a prominent white settler with a somewhat spurious 

reputation as a liberal, was given an impassioned exposition of the 

Prime Minister’s views.


Churchill began by recalling his own visit to the country in 

1907. Then, he had found the Kikuyu group, from which most of 

the rebels were now drawn, to be ‘a happy, naked and charming 

people’. He professed himself ‘astonished at the change which had 

come over their minds’. He became animated over the problem of 

how settlers might be protected from attack, and he poured out a 

flood of ideas designed to defend farmers: trip-wires, bells and other 

early warning systems. But in his view the issue was not really a 

military one – the problem was to get to the rebels’ minds. His eyes 

grew tearful as he told Blundell of the threat the situation posed to 

Britain’s good name in the world. It was terrible that the country 

that was the home of culture, magnanimity and democracy should 

be using force to suppress Mau Mau. ‘It’s the power of a modern 

nation being used to kill savages. It’s pretty terrible,’ he declared. 

‘Savages, savages? Not savages. They’re savages armed with ideas – 

much more difficult to deal with.’


Over and again he pressed on a reluctant Blundell the need for 

negotiation, arguing that the strength of the hold the Mau Mau 

had on the Kikuyu proved that the latter were not primitive, stupid 

and cowardly, as was often imagined. Rather, ‘they were persons 

of considerable fibre and ability and steel, who could be brought to 

our side by just and wise treatment’. He offered an analogy with his 

own role in finding a solution for the problem of Ireland after World 

War I, when he had negotiated with the nationalist leader Michael 

Collins, once a hard-line terrorist opponent of the British. Churchill 

also deplored British brutality against the Kenyan rebels and the 

fact that so many of the local population were locked up in detention 

camps, before offering his views on race relations. He was old-fashioned, 

he said, and ‘did not really think that black people were 

as capable or as efficient as white people’. All the same, ‘If I meet a 

black man and he’s a civilized educated fellow I have no feelings 

about him at all.’ He showed some scepticism about the white 

settlers too, ‘a highly individualistic and difficult people’, although 

he put some of their attitude down to ‘tension from the altitude’ in 

the highland areas in which they lived. When Blundell asked him 

for a message of encouragement to pass on to them, he declined, 

but, as his visitor got up to leave, Churchill assured him that he was 

on the right path and had his support. Blundell wished him a slightly 

belated happy eightieth birthday, and the Prime Minister looked 

greatly touched. He was beginning to feel his age, he said. Then he 

revealed a secret that had been kept from the outside world: ‘Hm. 

I’ve had two strokes. Most people don’t know that, but it’s a fact. I 

keep going.’ Blundell deduced that this accounted for the stiffened 

handshake at the beginning. Churchill walked him to the exit of the 

room and then, when Blundell had gone about five steps into the 

hall, wished him goodbye and good luck.1


This conversation did not mark any great turning point in the 

history of Kenya. Churchill, just months from retirement, was no 

longer in a position to be a major influence on colonial policy. 

Nevertheless, it was highly revealing of his attitudes to race and 

Empire, touching numerous themes that had been present throughout 

his career. There were so many familiar hallmarks: the gift for a 

phrase (‘savages armed with ideas’), the recollection of a happier, 

more innocent past, the emphasis on magnanimity and negotiating 

from strength. Also familiar was his unashamed belief in white 

superiority, a conviction which, for him, however, did not lessen the 

need to act humanely towards supposedly inferior races that might, 

in their own way, be worthy of admiration. Recognizable as part of 

this was his opinion that members of these races might earn equal 

treatment, if not exactly warm acceptance, provided they reached 

an approved cultural standard: a ‘civilized educated’ black man 

would provoke ‘no feelings’ in him. Overall, the striking thing is the 

complexity of his opinions. He emerges from Blundell’s account of 

the discussion as a holder of racist views but not as an imperial 

diehard. He comes across in his plea for peace talks as a thoughtful 

visionary, but also, in his description of the formerly ‘happy, naked’ 

Kikuyu, as curiously naïve about the realities of imperialism. He 

was prepared to question the conduct of a dirty colonial war, but 

was in the end willing to assure its supporters of his backing.


Churchill’s conversation with Blundell is a good starting point 

for consideration of his lifelong involvement with the British Empire, 

and the general attitudes to it from which his specific policies flowed. 

In order to do this we need to contend with his reputation – or 

reputations – on imperial issues. The popular image of him, which 

draws in particular on his opposition to Indian independence in 

the 1930s and 1940s, is of a last-ditcher for whom the integrity 

of the Empire was paramount. Yet many of his contemporaries had 

viewed him differently. As a youthful minister at the Colonial Office 

in the Edwardian period, political antagonists had described him as 

a Little Englander and a danger to the Empire. (‘Little Englandism’, 

which today carries connotations of anti-European xenophobia, at 

the time implied opposition to imperial expansion and to foreign 

entanglements in general; it was often used as a term of abuse.) As 

late as 1920, even the wild-eyed socialist MP James Maxton would 

claim disapprovingly that ‘the British Empire was approaching 

complete disintegration’ and that ‘it was not going too far to say 

that Mr Churchill had played a primary party in bringing about 

that state of affairs’.2 Such critics, it should be noted, were not 

alleging that Churchill was actively hostile to the Empire, more that 

it was not safe in his hands or that he was comparatively indifferent 

to it. By the time of Churchill’s final term in office, this view was 

still maintained by a tenacious few. In 1953 the Conservative 

politician Earl Winterton wrote to Leo Amery, one of Churchill’s 

former wartime colleagues, to congratulate him on the first volume 

of his memoirs. He told him: ‘I am particularly pleased that you 

have, whilst paying a tribute to Winston’s great patriotism, stated, 

which is indubitably the case, that he has never been an imperialist 

in the sense that you and I are; we suffered from this point of view 

during the war, whilst we were in opposition after the war and are 

still suffering from it to-day.’3


Although similar opinions can be found in the historical literature, 

such contemporary opinions of Churchill need to be treated 

with some caution.4 Those who accused him of not caring enough 

about the Empire often meant, underneath, that he did not happen 

to share their particular view of it. Nor is the conventional image 

completely misleading. Although during his post-1931 wilderness 

years Churchill publicly disclaimed the diehard label, it is clear that 

he came to revel in it. During the war, the topic of India frequently 

triggered such extreme reactions in him that he sometimes appeared 

not quite sane.5 Nevertheless, this man who could be so disdainful 

of non-white peoples – ‘I hate people with slit eyes & pig-tails’ – 

also had another side to him.6 In 1906, when criticizing the ‘chronic 

bloodshed’ caused by British punitive raids in West Africa, it was he 

who sarcastically wrote: ‘the whole enterprise is liable to be misrepresented 

by persons unacquainted with Imperial terminology as the 

murdering of natives and stealing of their lands’.7 As his talk with 

Blundell shows, this concern for the welfare of subject peoples stayed 

with him until the end of his career. In 1921, as Secretary of State 

for the Colonies, he stated that within the British Empire ‘there 

should be no barrier of race, colour or creed which should prevent 

any man from reaching any station if he is fitted for it’. Yet he 

immediately qualified this by adding that ‘such a principle has to be 

very carefully and gradually applied because intense local feelings 

are excited’, which was in effect a way of saying that its implementation 

should be delayed indefinitely.8 As one Indian politician put 

it the following year, when noting Churchill’s seemingly inconsistent 

position on the controversial question of Asians in East Africa, it 

was ‘a case, and a very strange case indeed’, of the story of Dr Jekyll 

and Mr Hyde.9


Therefore, in order to understand the origins and impact of 

Churchill’s imperialism, we do not need to overthrow the conventional 

picture so much as to understand how it arose. We also need 

to see why, during the second half of his career, it came to crowd 

out the story in which he appeared as a conciliator and even as a 

Radical. In order to do these things, we need a firm grasp of the 

world in which he grew up and began to make his career at the end 

of the nineteenth century. The British Empire at that time was in a 

phase of rapid expansion, driven by multiple forces, from private 

trading and missionary activity to international great-power rivalries. 

At the time of Churchill’s birth, in 1874, it was about to embark on 

its most triumphant phase. In 1877, amid great controversy, Queen 

Victoria was crowned ‘Empress of India’, in a symbolic adornment 

of the longstanding British control of the subcontinent. During the 

1880s, Britain took part in the ‘scramble for Africa’, a race between 

European powers for colonies, acquiring Bechuanaland, Nigeria, 

Somaliland, Zululand, Kenya, Rhodesia and (in 1890) Zanzibar. 

This was by no means the end point of the growth of the Empire; 

there were further acquisitions at the end of World War I and, if 

enemy colonies conquered during World War II are taken into 

account, it reached its maximum territorial extent only in 1945.10 

At its zenith, around 500 million people, or about a quarter of the 

world’s population, were British subjects.


The very speed of the expansion, and the multiplicity of motives 

behind it, helped ensure a great diversity in methods of rule. 

Terminology shifted throughout the period of Churchill’s lifetime – 

for example ‘Commonwealth’ gradually replaced ‘Empire’, to his 

considerable chagrin – but for the period of his political maturity 

certain broad generalizations are possible. Loosely speaking, the 

‘dominions’ were those territories such as Australia, New Zealand 

and Canada which had achieved a substantial (and progressively 

increasing) level of political autonomy.11 During the interwar years 

they gained the formal right to secede from the Empire if they 

wished. The ‘colonies’, by contrast, were overseas possessions where 

the Crown retained proprietorship. They might nonetheless be 

‘self-governing’, which meant that the white settler elites had considerable 

control over local affairs. There were also other forms of 

governance, including the League of Nations ‘mandates’ granted to 

Britain after World War I, as for example in Palestine. India, 

anomalously, was neither a dominion nor a colony, British rule 

there being to a substantial extent based on cooperation with loyal 

Indian princes.12


Such distinctions were probably lost on the majority of the 

British population at the time.13 This, however, does not necessarily 

constitute proof that the masses were indifferent to the Empire. 

Churchill, for one, believed that the imperial zeitgeist of his schoolboy 

years had left ‘a permanent imprint upon the national mind’.14 

As Churchill’s headmaster at Harrow school put it in 1895:







if the Elizabethan era marks the beginning, it is not less true 

that the Victorian era marks the consummation of the British 

Empire. The seventeenth century may be said to be the age of 

individual explorers, the eighteenth of commercial companies, 

the nineteenth of the State. [. . .] It is not the expansion of 

Empire, it is the spirit of Empire, which is the characteristic 

of the reign of Queen Victoria.15







This new spirit may have been largely restricted to elites; but then, 

Churchill was one of the elite.


The observation that this background was important is hardly 

original. When Jawaharlal Nehru (who was to become the first 

Prime Minister of independent India) remarked during World 

War II that Churchill had ‘a Victorian mind’ it served as a 

convenient way of saying that he was a reactionary.16 Historians 

criticizing Churchill have often used similar shorthand.17 Churchill’s 

defenders also point to his Victorianism, but present it in a different 

way. For example his former private secretary John Colville, in a 

foreword to a new edition of The River War, Churchill’s 1899 work 

on Kitchener’s Sudan campaign, wrote the following.







Churchill’s imperialism, faithfully representing the feelings of 

his fellow-countrymen at this apogee of the British Empire, 

emerges clearly from this book: but it should be judged by the 

generally accepted standards prevailing at the end of the 

Victorian era and not by those in fashion today. [. . .] Churchill, 

for his part, was antagonised by Kitchener’s ruthless treatment 

of the defeated Dervishes, whose courage he respected.18







Similarly, one sympathetic historian, seeking to explain 

Churchill’s toleration of discrimination against black Africans, 

writes: ‘Churchill was a Victorian by upbringing [. . .] and most 

Britons of his generation regarded black Africans as backward and 

relatively uncivilized.’ But, he adds, ‘Churchill’s own outlook was 

more informed and relatively enlightened.’19


The defenders’ pleas for contextualization are, on the surface, 

highly plausible. However, they are also problematic. References to 

‘generally accepted standards’, and to the views of ‘most Britons’, 

do less than full justice to the range of opinion in Victorian Britain 

to which Churchill was exposed. Furthermore, we are being asked 

to believe two contradictory things simultaneously. On the one 

hand, it is suggested, the seemingly unpleasant aspects of his racial 

thinking can be excused on the grounds that he could not have 

been expected to escape from the mentality prevailing during his 

youth. On the other hand, we are told, he did escape it and is to be 

praised because he was actually unusually enlightened! We should 

not, in fact, use Churchill’s Victorian background as an historical 

‘get out of jail free’ card for him any more than we should use it as 

a blanket label of condemnation. In order to understand its true 

importance, it is necessary to appreciate that his Victorian heritage 

accounted for many of the apparently ‘enlightened’ elements of 

Churchill’s thought as well as many of the ‘reactionary’ ones. At the 

same time, his attitudes in later life were not always a straightforward 

extension of the ones he held earlier. He himself said that 

he ‘had inclined more to the right as he got older’, but there were 

some changes in his views that cannot be easily located on a left–right spectrum.20 For example, although he showed much hostility 

to Islam in his early writings, this died away and was replaced 

during the interwar years with a near-fanatical hatred of Hinduism. 

In 1943 he remarked, ‘I’m pro-Moslem – the only quality of the 

Hindus is that there’s a lot of them and that is a vice’.21


This book aims at genuine explanation of these complex patterns, 

not tub-thumping or apologetics. Remarkable as it may seem, it is 

the first attempt to provide a comprehensive treatment of Churchill’s 

relationship with the Empire within a single volume.22 There have 

been some excellent short overviews, and numerous books dealing 

with particular countries, periods, themes and individuals, but no 

one has tackled the problem as a whole at volume length.23 The 

task is indeed a daunting one, and it is not possible within the scope 

of this book to give an exhaustive treatment of every single imperial 

issue with which Churchill was involved. It is, however, feasible 

to investigate the key features of the most important episodes and 

questions. Furthermore, there is significant new evidence that can 

be brought to bear on many of them. For example, the unpublished 

letters of Lady Lugard cast fresh light on the first controversial 

months of Churchill’s ministerial career, and the recently released 

Cabinet Secretaries’ notebooks (preserved for the post-1942 period) 

increase our understanding of his involvement in episodes such as 

the Mau Mau uprising.


The treasures of the archives should not, however, lead us to 

neglect published sources, not least the many forgotten reviews of 

Churchill’s early books. These help us reconstruct the ideological 

world in which Churchill was operating and improve our understanding 

of his arguments. They also remind us that, even if he 

himself viewed his youthful imperial adventures simply as a shortcut 

to a political career, they need to be considered more broadly.24 

They were the means by which he established a reputation as the 

premier ‘public journalist of the Empire’.25 As such, he did not 

merely represent the Empire to the British people but affected the 

way it was seen throughout the world. Churchill became a global 

brand, inextricably mixed up with the image of the Empire, a 

process that began in the 1890s and reached its culmination during 

World War II. In one propaganda film shown in Africa, for 

example, the war was portrayed as a jungle fight between a snake, 

labelled ‘Hitler’, and its deadly enemy the mongoose, labelled 

‘Churchill’.26 Not, of course, that the intended message always got 

through: in the 1960s one Zambian woman obtained a devoted 

religious following by playing an entirely worn-out record of one 

of Churchill’s wartime speeches on an ancient phonograph. She 

persuaded the crowds that the incomprehensible rumbling was 

‘God’s voice anointing her his emissary and commanding absolute 

obeisance’.27


Therefore, this book does not adopt a purely biographical 

approach but explores Churchill’s career within the context of the 

experiences and opinions of his contemporaries. It looks at attitudes 

and ideas as well as events and policies; crucially, it also examines 

the way in which Churchill was perceived and his messages understood 

not only in Britain but throughout the Empire. He must be 

seen not only through his own words but also through the eyes of 

his contemporaries. One such figure who recurs repeatedly in our 

story is Leo Amery. It was said of him that had he been half a head 

taller, and his speeches half an hour shorter, he could have been 

Prime Minister.28 As it was, he ended up – after some vicissitudes in 

the two men’s relations – as Churchill’s Secretary of State for India 

in 1940–45. At the end of the war he was to suffer an appalling 

personal tragedy when his son was hanged for treason. For our 

purposes his career forms a useful counterpoint to that of Churchill. 

Moreover, for decades Amery maintained in his diary that Churchill 

was ‘not really interested in the Empire’.29 In fact, they both shared 

a strong commitment to the Empire, but that commitment took a 

very different form for each of them. Other figures that recur in 

these pages include the Canadian politician W. L. Mackenzie King 

and the South African J. C. Smuts as well, inescapably, as two key 

founders of modern India: M. K. Gandhi and Jawaharlal Nehru. 

Opinion of Churchill in the non-white parts of the Empire is a 

neglected area of study.30 One insight that emerges from it is that 

colonial nationalist reactions to him were often far more subtle and 

nuanced than later criticisms from some individuals within the 

former Empire might lead one to expect.


Churchill’s Empire – the picture he kept in his head and which 

he relayed in his speeches and writings – was a selective and 

sometimes superficial construct. This was in part because his direct 

experience of the Empire was incomplete. He saw much of Canada 

and the Middle East, and visited East Africa in 1907, but he did not 

return to India after the 1890s, or to South Africa after 1900, and 

never visited West Africa, Australia, New Zealand, or Britain’s Far 

Eastern possessions.31 Nevertheless, by the standards of most people 

at the time, his experience was wide indeed. This book relates how 

it interacted with other influences – intellectual, social and political 

– to shape the man that he became. It also shows how he in turn 

shaped, for good and ill, the world in which we live today.
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LEARNING TO THINK IMPERIALLY, 1874–1897


IN JUNE 1939 the MP and diarist Harold Nicolson attended a 

dinner at which Winston Churchill was the guest of honour. Also 

present was the celebrated American columnist Walter Lippmann. 

Lippmann told the assembled company that Joseph Kennedy, the 

appeasement-minded US ambassador to Britain, ‘had informed him 

that war was inevitable’ and that the British would ‘be licked’. 

According to Nicolson, this reported defeatism prompted Churchill 

into ‘a magnificent oration’, during which he sat hunched, ‘waving 

his whisky-and-soda to mark his periods, stubbing his cigar with the 

other hand’. He did not deny that the coming war would bring ‘dire 

peril and fierce ordeals’, but said that these would merely steel the 

British people and enhance their will for victory. He addressed 

Lippmann:







Yet supposing (as I do not for one moment suppose) that Mr 

Kennedy were correct in his tragic utterance, then I for one 

would willingly lay down my life in combat, rather than, in fear 

of defeat, surrender to the menaces of these most sinister men. 

It will then be for you, for the Americans, to preserve and to 

maintain the great heritage of the English-speaking peoples. It 

will be for you to think imperially, which means to think always 

of something higher and more vast than one’s own national 

interests.







Churchill reached a stirring peroration in which he envisaged 

the torch of liberty continuing to burn ‘untarnished and (I trust and 

hope) undismayed’. And then, as Nicolson noted laconically, discussion 

moved to the topic of the giant panda.1


Churchill’s injunction to the Americans to ‘think imperially’ was 

an echo of Joseph Chamberlain’s injunction to the British people 

thirty-five years earlier.2 Chamberlain made his remark during his 

crusade to integrate the British Empire as an economic bloc – a 

campaign that Churchill had opposed, to the point of leaving the 

Conservatives for the Liberals in order to combat it. He now gave 

his own construction of imperialism, which – doubtless with historic 

US anti-imperialism in mind – he defined simply as meaning to take 

responsibility in international affairs. That, though, was very different 

from his own past (and future) interpretations of the word. But 

where had his own ideas come from? His biographers, when they 

comment on such questions at all, tend to content themselves with 

generalizations such as ‘Churchill absorbed the spirit of imperialism 

with the air he breathed’,3 or observe that he accepted contemporary 

ideas of Anglo-Saxon superiority ‘unquestioningly’.4 It is possible 

to discuss his early influences with a little more precision than this. 

This chapter will explore how it was that Winston Churchill learnt 

to think imperially, a story that is more complex than is often 

assumed.







I





Churchill’s first public speech was made in defence of the Empire – 

the Empire Palace of Varieties in London’s Leicester Square. It was 

November 1894. He was a cadet at the Royal Military College at 

Sandhurst and about to turn twenty. The theatre concerned was 

one of his favourite haunts, even though his beloved former nurse, 

Mrs Everest, had warned him against going there: ‘it is too awful to 

think of, it can only lead to wickedness and everything bad’.5 

Morality campaigners shared her anxieties, and were now opposing 

the renewal of the Empire’s music and dancing licence. They alleged 

that prostitutes solicited there, and that the dancing on stage ‘was 

designed to excite impure thought and passion’.6 Regarded by the 

young Churchill as detestable prudes, the puritans were particularly 

exercised by the theatre’s Promenade, a space behind the dress 

circle in which men and women mingled freely and even drank 

alcohol. As a condition of renewing the licence, the London County 

Council insisted that no liquor be served in the auditorium, so the 

management erected canvas screens between the Promenade and 

the adjoining bars. The next Saturday, Churchill, on weekend leave, 

was there when the infuriated crowd ‘rushed upon these flimsy 

barricades and tore them to pieces’.7 Indeed, he afterwards boasted 

to his brother, ‘It was I who led the rioters’.8 He later recalled how, 

‘Mounting on the débris and indeed partially emerging from it, I 

addressed the tumultuous crowd.’ He did not make worthy arguments 

about the traditions of British freedom but instead won the 

applause of the mob by appealing ‘directly to sentiment and even 

passion’.9 Then everyone spilled out into the night air, with the 

violent assistance of the theatre’s ‘chuckers out’.10 But the riot was 

to no avail: the barricades were soon built again in brick.


Churchill’s second speech, nearly three years later, was a rather 

more sober affair. It was to a Primrose League fête near Bath. The 

League was a national organization that aimed to marshal mass 

support for the Conservative Party. It was inclusive, insofar as 

working men (even if non-voters) and women could join, but also 

deeply hierarchical. (Churchill, who joined at the age of thirteen, 

achieved the rank of ‘knight’ two years later.)11 As he reminded the 

Bath gathering, the League’s mission was to teach the British people 

‘the splendour of their Empire, the nature of their Constitution, and 

the importance of their fleet’. His speech was notable as his first 

attempt to draw attention to himself politically, in the hope of 

finding a Tory seat in Parliament. In terms of the imperial sentiments 

he expressed, it is interesting for two reasons. First, Churchill 

was aware that many people believed that the Empire, in what was 

Queen Victoria’s diamond jubilee year, had already reached its 

apogee, and from now on could only decline. Second, he radiated 

confidence (as his audience would surely have expected) that Britain’s 

mission would continue unabated. To cheers from his audience, 

he declared: ‘Do not believe these croakers but give the lie to 

their dismal croaking by showing by our actions that the vigour and 

vitality of our race is unimpaired and that our determination is to 

uphold the Empire that we have inherited from our fathers as 

Englishmen’. In his view, the British would ‘continue to pursue that 

course marked out for us by an all-wise hand and carry out our 

mission of bearing peace, civilisation and good government to the 

uttermost ends of the earth’.12


Much had happened to Churchill in the interval between these 

two speeches. In January 1895 his father, Lord Randolph Churchill, 

died at the age of forty-five from a degenerative illness, possibly 

syphilis, his once-stellar political career having long since imploded. 

Then, having received an army commission – and following an 

adventurous trip to the United States and Cuba – the younger 

Churchill had been posted to India. There he had helped while 

away the tedium with an ambitious programme of self-education, 

trying to teach himself what he thought he had missed out on by 

not going to university. It is tempting to explain the contrast 

between the Leicester Square high-jinks and the high imperialism 

of the Bath meeting (which Churchill addressed while home on 

leave) as a symptom of these developments. In this interpretation, 

Churchill’s new-found seriousness and direct experience of the 

Empire merged with a determination to vindicate his father’s 

memory and at the same time achieve political fame in his own 

right. Conviction, reinforced by a wide reading of authors such as 

Edward Gibbon, dovetailed with a self-interested realization that a 

young man could draw attention to himself through daring exploits 

in the farther reaches of the British-ruled world. There is plenty of 

truth to be found in this view – which Churchill rather encouraged 

in his memoirs – but it is not the whole truth. Although he may not 

have been fully aware of it himself, Churchill’s imperial consciousness 

began to form long before the autodidact phase of his early 

twenties.


As an adult, Churchill wrote that he had taken his politics 

‘almost unquestioningly’ from his father.13 This claim was perfectly 

sincere, but it cannot be accepted completely at face value, as an 

examination of Lord Randolph’s thought and career will show. He 

was born in 1849, the third son of the seventh Duke of Marlborough. 

He grew up to be an able but erratic youth, who could be 

genuinely charming but also witheringly scornful when (as often) he 

was displeased. He studied at Oxford University and was praised by 

his examiners for his knowledge of Gibbon’s Decline and Fall of the 

Roman Empire – and Winston Churchill later read Gibbon in part 

because he had been told of its influence on Lord Randolph.14 In 

1873 Lord Randolph met and fell in love with Jennie Jerome, the 

nineteen-year-old daughter of a well-known New York businessman, 

but it took some time for the couple to overcome their parents’ 

opposition to their marriage. The wedding eventually took place in 

April 1874, a few months after Lord Randolph had been elected as 

Conservative MP for Woodstock – a position he owed largely to his 

father’s powerful local influence. A mere seven and a half months 

after the nuptials, Jennie gave birth to Winston Leonard Spencer-Churchill at Blenheim Palace, the spectacularly grand Marlborough 

family seat. The announcement in The Times claimed, perhaps not 

wholly plausibly, that the birth was premature.15


Lord Randolph applied himself more to high society than to 

the House of Commons, but he soon made a catastrophic social 

faux pas. His elder brother, the Marquis of Blandford, had an 

affair with Lady Aylesford while her husband was visiting India in 

1875. Lord Aylesford wanted a divorce, which, if it went ahead, 

would drag Blandford’s name into a public scandal. To avoid this, 

Lord Randolph pressed his friend the Prince of Wales to use his 

influence to halt the proceedings. Were this not done, he threatened 

to make public the Prince’s own indiscreet letters to Lady 

Aylesford. The Prince was naturally outraged at this attempted 

blackmail, and Lord Randolph was ostracized from society as a 

result. A kind of exile followed when the Prime Minister, Benjamin 

Disraeli, offered his father the Lord-Lieutenancy of Ireland, and 

Lord Randolph went with him as his private secretary. Winston 

Churchill’s first memory was of the Duke, his grandfather, unveiling 

a statue of the imperial hero, Lord Gough, in Dublin’s Phoenix 

Park. The statue is no longer there, removed following the IRA’s 

attempts to blow it up in the 1950s.


Ireland was already troubled by violence during Winston 

Churchill’s childhood. Attempts at religious and educational reform 

by Gladstone’s Liberals had failed to quell a nationalist upsurge 

driven by economic distress and a sharp sense of resentment at 

British rule. The armed revolutionaries of the Irish Republican 

Brotherhood, often referred to as the Fenians, were not of the 

political mainstream but they conjured a fearsome reputation. ‘My 

nurse, Mrs Everest, was nervous about the Fenians’, Churchill 

recalled. ‘I gathered these were wicked people and there was no end 

to what they would do if they had their way.’16 Later on, Gladstone 

was converted to the concept of Home Rule, under which control 

of Irish affairs would have been delegated from Westminster to 

Dublin. Lord Randolph, for his part, adopted a notoriously hard 

line against this plan. It would, he argued, plunge a knife into the 

heart of the British Empire. Moreover, the north of Ireland was 

dominated by Protestants, who feared subjection to the will of the 

Catholic majority. ‘Ulster will fight,’ Lord Randolph declared at a 

crucial moment during the battles of the 1880s; ‘Ulster will be 

right’.17 Yet although Winston Churchill for some years shared his 

father’s opposition to Home Rule, he was to prove much more 

flexible once he became a minister. Although protective of his 

father’s memory, he did not adhere slavishly to his political positions.


In 1880 Disraeli was defeated at the general election and the 

Duke of Marlborough’s time in Dublin came to an end. The social 

boycott of Lord Randolph had eased, and he began to make his mark 

as a Tory MP. He led a small group known as the ‘Fourth Party’, 

attacking Gladstone’s Liberal government vigorously; he also fell out 

with the new leaders on account of his failure to toe the official party 

line. He became known as an advocate of ‘Tory Democracy’, a slogan 

Winston Churchill would adopt, although in Lord Randolph’s hands 

it did not have much substance; some historians have accused him of 

inconsistency and opportunism. There was, however, something 

attractive in his very unpredictability, which extended to imperial 

issues, as the question of Egypt showed.


Egypt was part of the Ottoman Empire, ruled inefficiently by 

the Khedive, the Sultan’s representative, and was massively indebted 

to European bondholders. In 1882 Britain intervened to put down 

a nationalist revolt and thus protect her investments. After the rebels 

were defeated by her forces at the Battle of Tel-el-Kebir in September, 

real power in Egypt was exercised by the British, although the 

Khedive still owed nominal allegiance to the Sultan. To some it 

seemed a dirty business. Wilfrid Scawen Blunt, poet, horse-breeder, 

womanizer and adventurer, was the anti-imperialist in chief. (He is 

best known for his later verse riposte to Rudyard Kipling: ‘The 

White Man’s Burden, Lord, is the burden of his cash’.)18 A supporter 

of the Egyptian nationalists, he had returned from Cairo to put 

their case to Gladstone, but had been unable to forestall the British 

action. He came to believe that the Khedive had deliberately 

inspired a deadly riot that took place at Alexandria (and was then 

blamed on the nationalists) in order to draw the British in. Seeking 

help in drawing attention to his allegations, Blunt approached Lord 

Randolph, whom he recalled as a ‘distinctly good-looking young 

man’ with a ‘certain distinction of manner’ and a curling moustache 

that ‘gave an aggressive tone to his countenance’.19 Lord Randolph 

was persuaded of Blunt’s case, and during 1883 publicly pressed the 

charge that the government was complicit in the actions of the 

Khedive, their ‘puppet and ally’.20 (He also described the execution 

of one nationalist officer, after a trial of doubtful fairness, as ‘the 

grossest and vilest judicial murder that ever stained the annals of 

Oriental justice’.)21 He may not have proven his accusations beyond 

all doubt, but he certainly made the government feel deeply 

uncomfortable. As Winston Churchill observed in his biography of 

his father, it was remarkable that, in officially rejecting the evidence 

he provided, ‘the Government took no steps, by rebutting it in 

detail, to discredit their pertinacious assailant’.22 Lord Randolph 

had undoubtedly demonstrated his unconventionality but he was no 

opponent of the Empire. He objected not to imperial rule per se, 

but to the halfway-house situation whereby the British propped up 

an unjust regime in Cairo. He declared that the government should 

either withdraw entirely or take total control: ‘Let them take Egypt 

altogether if they liked, but let the country be under persons 

responsible to the English Government who would rid the country 

of its burdens and raise up the fellaheen from their present low 

state.’23


His chief concern was to find sticks with which to beat the 

government. The following year he lacerated ministers for their failure 

to go to the rescue of General Charles Gordon, Governor-General 

of the Sudan, who was under siege in Khartoum. The 

government eventually sent a relief mission, but too late. It arrived, 

in January 1885, two days after the city had fallen to the forces of 

the Mahdi (‘The Expected One’), the charismatic Islamic leader who 

was determined to end Egyptian rule in his country. Gordon’s brutal 

death by spearing at the hands of the Mahdi’s warriors turned 

him into an imperial icon and helped seal the fate of Gladstone’s 

government, which fell in June. In spite of Lord Randolph’s tense 

relationship with his own party’s leadership, he had won national 

popularity, bolstered by speeches in which he urged ‘a policy of 

activity for the national welfare, combined with a zeal for Imperial 

security’.24 Lord Salisbury, Prime Minister of the new minority Tory 

administration, could not fail to give him a Cabinet post, and 

appointed him Secretary of State for India.


His seven-month tenure at the India Office gave full play to the 

contradictions in his imperial attitudes. He had already made a long 

visit to India in advance of his appointment, and taken the trouble 

to meet a range of Indian intellectuals, politicians and journalists. 

Lala Baijnath, a lawyer, was ‘greatly astonished at his intimate 

knowledge of Indian subjects as well as those discussed by the native 

papers’.25 Nationalism was just beginning to flower in the country – 

the first Indian National Congress was held later in 1885 – and 

Lord Randolph appeared to be a polite and intelligent listener. He 

wrote to his mother: ‘The natives are much pleased when one goes 

to their houses, for the officials out here hold themselves much too 

high and never seek any intercourse with the natives out of official 

lines; they are very foolish.’26 He seemed genuinely to like the 

country (something that cannot be said of his son) and he won 

praise from papers such as the Indian Spectator, the Bengalee and the 

Hindoo Patriot.27


Back in England, and in office, Lord Randolph changed his 

tune. He had never doubted the benefits of British rule in India, 

even if – like many of its other supporters at the time – he admitted 

it to be ‘purely despotic’.28 (In a remark particularly admired by his 

son, he described the Raj as ‘a sheet of oil spread out over the 

surface of, and keeping calm and quiet and unruffled by storms, an 

immense and profound ocean of humanity’.)29 There was, however, 

the question of emphasis, and in language and policy he now 

showed himself a reactionary. The change was exemplified by his 

treatment of a delegation of Indians that came to Britain ‘to 

advocate advanced native views of a Home Rule kind’.30 At an 

interview arranged by Blunt, Churchill was charm itself, if politically 

noncommittal. ‘Nothing could have exceeded the grace and kindliness 

with which Lord Randolph shook hands with us’, recollected 

N. G. Chandavarkar. ‘I do not wonder that they make a hero of 

him on Tory platforms.’31 During that November’s general election, 

however, the delegates lent support to John Bright, Lord Randolph’s 

Liberal opponent in Central Birmingham, the constituency he was 

now fighting. He now mocked the ‘ignorance and credulity’ of the 

Indians, and added: ‘what must be the desperation of the radical 

party when, in order to secure the return of Mr Bright, they had to 

bring down on the platform of that great Town Hall three Bengalee 

baboos’.32 In the meantime Churchill had set in train the annexation 

of Upper Burma, which he clearly hoped would win him further 

Birmingham votes. The apparent liberality of the sentiments he had 

expressed in India had been replaced by military expansionism and 

cheap platform sneers.


Lord Randolph lost narrowly in Birmingham (although he easily 

found a new London seat) and the Tories lost the election as a 

whole. After Salisbury’s government fell in January 1886, Gladstone 

became Prime Minister again, but his determination to press ahead 

with Home Rule in Ireland led to his defeat and split his party in 

two. At a further election in July the Liberals met with disaster, and 

were thereafter to be denied effective power for nearly twenty years. 

Lord Randolph, though, was to gain little in career terms from the 

new Tory hegemony. At first his star continued to rise. Salisbury 

appointed him – when he was still only thirty-seven – Chancellor of 

the Exchequer and Leader of the House of Commons. But his 

marriage was in difficulty (money worries may have contributed to 

this), he appeared ill, and he proved to be a mercurial, intemperate 

and ultimately impossible colleague. In December 1886, in an 

attempt to secure economy in naval spending, he offered his 

resignation. Greatly to his surprise, Salisbury accepted it. Lord 

Randolph never held office again. But his strangest imperial adventure 

was yet to come.


Within a few years, he was convinced that the Tory leaders 

meant to drive him out of the party: ‘I am not yet however clear 

that being driven out of the party is equivalent to being driven out 

of public life.’33 Indeed not. In February 1891 The Times reported 

that he had decided to visit South Africa; three months later the 

Daily Graphic announced that he had given its proprietors ‘the 

exclusive right to publish a Series of Letters signed by himself, giving 

a detailed account of his experiences’.34 He was to be paid the 

incredible sum of two thousand guineas for twenty letters. Owing to 

his and Jennie’s wild extravagance, he needed the money; he hoped 

to further boost his fortunes through the gold-prospecting syndicate 

he had formed. The Graphic was certainly to get its money’s worth, 

for once he arrived at Cape Town in May he began to generate 

spectacular and controversial copy. Almost everything he wrote – 

even his complaints about the catering onboard ship – generated 

heated debate at home. He attracted much criticism when he wrote 

that diamonds were mined in order to satisfy an ‘essentially barbaric’ 

feminine lust for personal adornment, and suggested that ‘whatever 

may be the origin of man, woman is descended from an ape’.35 

His political pronouncements were startling too. He provocatively 

urged the British occupation of Portuguese territory on the Mozambique 

coast, following skirmishes between Portuguese soldiers 

and the forces of the British South Africa Company, at a time when 

the governments of Britain and Portugal were negotiating over the 

region. Perhaps most surprisingly, he endorsed the policy Gladstone 

had followed in South Africa in 1881. In that year, British defeat at 

the Battle of Majuba Hill had been followed by the restoration of 

the independent Boer republic of the Transvaal. (The Boers were 

Calvinists of mainly Dutch descent.) Many Conservatives had seen 

this as a pusillanimous imperial retreat, but Churchill now declared 

that the magnanimity of the peace settlement had allowed the 

British to escape ‘a wretched and discreditable muddle, not without 

harm and damage, but probably in the best possible manner’ given 

the circumstances.36 In the future, the value of conciliating the Boers 

was not to be lost on Winston Churchill, although many factors 

weighed on him quite apart from his late father’s opinions.


Lord Randolph’s unexpected remarks about the Majuba episode 

did not prevent him being magnificently rude about the Boers 

themselves:







The Boer farmer personifies useless idleness. [. . .] With the 

exception of the Bible, every word of which in its most literal 

interpretation he believes with fanatical credulity, he never 

opens a book, he never even reads a newspaper. His simple 

ignorance is unfathomable, and this in stolid composure he 

shares with his wife, his sons, his daughters, being proud that 

his children should grow up as ignorant, as uncultivated, as 

hopelessly unproductive as himself.37







Earlier, he had given a rather more positive impression of South 

Africa to Winston who, as a pupil at Harrow School, followed his 

progress avidly. A month into his tour Lord Randolph sent him an 

unusually affectionate letter. (He was by no means an attentive 

father, and when he wrote it was frequently to offer a reprimand.) 

‘I have been having a most agreeable travel in this very remarkable 

country’, he wrote. ‘I expect that when you are my age you will see 

S Africa to be the most populous and wealthy of all our colonies.’38 

Winston, for his part, informed Lord Randolph of the home press 

coverage, which he loyally denounced as ‘exceedingly spiteful & 

vicious’, and requested an antelope’s head for his room.39 ‘I hear 

the horrid Boers are incensed with you’, he told his father before 

going on to request some rare African stamps. ‘It would have been 

much wiser, if you had waited till you came back before you 

“slanged the beggars”.’40


To Lord Randolph’s credit, his criticisms of the Boers included 

their treatment of black people. ‘The Boer does not recognize that 

the native is in any degree raised above the level of the lower 

animals’, he wrote, adding: ‘His undying hatred for the English 

arises mainly from the fact that the English persist in according at 

least in theory equal rights to the coloured population as are enjoyed 

by whites.’41 The ‘at least in theory’ was a very important reservation 

– and it should be noted that Lord Randolph did not hesitate 

to refer privately to ‘niggers’42 – but the willingness to pay lip service 

to equality shows that Victorian racial politics was rather more 

complex than is often assumed. Winston Churchill did not grow up 

in an atmosphere where straightforward and unqualified racism 

would invariably pass without challenge.


Lord Randolph’s personal behaviour was highly eccentric. The 

degree to which this was a product of mental instability caused by 

illness is a moot point. His discourtesy to many of those he met 

on his journey could not but attract comment, and, when he travelled 

into Mashonaland, the mind-boggling extravagance of his 

expedition provoked the hilarity of the locals. (He took with him 

103 oxen, a cow, 13 riding horses, 18 mules and a mare to run 

with them, 14 donkeys, 11 dogs, and 20 tons of food, ammunition 

and equipment.)43 He seems to have been almost indifferent to the 

impression he was making, telling his mother that ‘the carping and 

abuse of the Press’ was due to jealousy of the amount he was being 

paid. Moreover, ‘one must write the truth, and the truth is that the 

country is a disappointment and a failure’.44 Lord Randolph’s 

return to England was followed by a tragic mental and physical 

decline; his halting speeches became a horrible embarrassment. His 

friend Lord Rosebery famously observed, that ‘He died by inches 

in public’ and was ‘the chief mourner at his own protracted 

funeral’.45 In 1894 he started a world tour, which was cut short by 

a further collapse in his health. He died in London the following 

January.


His influence on Winston Churchill’s world view in general, and 

on his imperialism in particular, is difficult to gauge. Lord Randolph 

never took his son, who so admired him, into his political confidence, so the latter’s contemporary knowledge of his father’s career 

was not much greater than any other observer’s. ‘When I became 

most closely acquainted with his thought and theme,’ Winston later 

acknowledged, ‘he was already dead.’46 But the recently bereaved 

son threw himself into the study of his father’s life, learning portions 

of his speeches by heart and even quoting them to acquaintances; 

one, made in patriotic opposition to the idea of a Channel tunnel, 

seemed to appeal to him specially.47 In 1906 he published a massive 

and well-documented biography of Lord Randolph. By the time he 

finished it he had left the Conservative Party and was on the 

threshold of his ministerial career as a Liberal; he had abandoned 

the Tories after they had dropped their commitment to free trade, 

a highly controversial move that he thought would be economically 

damaging. With a combination of literary skill and judicious editing, 

he did his best in his book to iron out the inconsistencies in Lord 

Randolph’s political journey and to play down facts that he himself 

found politically uncomfortable. For example, Winston, as a free 

trader, ignored evidence that Lord Randolph had done more than 

merely flirt with the protectionist ‘Fair Trade’ movement of the 

1880s.48 And, as Wilfrid Scawen Blunt noted at the time, ‘there is 

nothing at all [in the book] about his father’s more Indian liberal 

views’.49


It might have been expected, then, that Churchill would also 

seek to reinvent Lord Randolph as an unabashed imperialist, but 

interestingly he did not do so. The biography showed that Lord 

Randolph had at times adopted a ‘Jingo’ tone out of electoral 

expediency, and acknowledged that his attacks on Gladstone over 

Egypt had made some ‘True Blue’ Tories feel uneasy.50 It even 

admitted that ‘Lord Randolph Churchill was never what is nowadays 

called an Imperialist and always looked at home rather than 

abroad’.51 Yet if Churchill recognized the limits to his father’s 

imperialism – and if his own more powerful kind must therefore 

have owed much to other sources – we cannot discount Lord 

Randolph’s influence entirely. Winston can hardly, for example, 

have overlooked an important lesson of the South African visit: that 

travelling to distant parts of the Empire and writing about them was 

an excellent way of gaining publicity and making money at the 

same time.







II





Not long before his death, Lord Randolph wrote to Winston of his 

certainty ‘that if you cannot prevent yourself from leading the idle 

useless and unprofitable life you have had during your schooldays & 

later months, you will become a mere social wastrel one of the 

hundreds of the public school failures’.52 Even allowing for Lord 

Randolph’s considerable exaggeration of his son’s idleness, the latter 

was certainly not a model pupil in most respects. This, taken 

together with the fact that he later felt the need to make good his 

educational deficit through self-instruction, might lead us to conclude 

that his formal schooling had little impact on him. The truth, 

however, was different. During his childhood, and during his time 

at Harrow School in particular, he was exposed to imperialist 

messages that would stay with him for decades.


This exposure began early, but it was not simply a question of 

formal indoctrination. As his parents were distant, even neglectful, 

they delegated his care to Mrs Everest, who became his childhood 

confidante. In My Early Life (1930) he recalled a visit made to her 

sister and her husband, a prison warder, on the Isle of Wight, when 

he was four. It was at the time of the Zulu War, and as he recollected, 

not without irony:







There were pictures in the papers of the Zulus. They were 

black and naked, with spears called ‘assegais’ which they threw 

very cleverly. They killed a great many of our soldiers, but 

judging from the pictures, not nearly so many as our soldiers 

killed of them. I was very angry with the Zulus, and glad to 

hear they were being killed; and so was my friend, the old 

prison warder. After a while it seemed that they were all killed, 

because this particular war came to an end and there were no 

more pictures of Zulus in the papers and nobody worried any 

more about them.53







Historians of Empire rightly place much emphasis on the role 

such media images (and popular culture in general) played in 

inculcating the British people with the spirit of Empire, and also on 

that of schooling. How much effect this had on the masses is a matter 

of controversy. For many years scholars tended to argue that the 

populace was suffused with Empire sentiment, via sweeping propaganda 

ranging from children’s literature to the music hall to imperial 

exhibitions.54 More recently it has been argued that even when this 

propaganda reached the working classes they were often indifferent 

to it, and that popular feeling for the Empire erupted only rarely, for 

example during the Boer War.55 There is little doubt, however, of 

the impact on the social elite. In Churchill’s case, that impact can be 

traced with some certainty. There are, it is true, some gaps in our 

knowledge. We do not have detailed evidence of the curricula he 

followed at the preparatory schools he attended between the ages of 

seven and thirteen. Nevertheless, it seems probable that he was 

exposed, even if only obliquely, to some form of imperial education 

while he was there. (He would surely have become familiar with the 

world map – with the extensive ‘pink bits’ indicating British territory 

– that was an almost proverbial feature of the Victorian schoolroom.) 

The fact that he joined the Primrose League in 1887, and his eagerness 

to attend Queen Victoria’s golden jubilee in the same year, 

suggests that he felt some degree of emotional attachment to Crown 

and Empire by the time he reached his teens.


We can be rather more precise about his subsequent years at 

Harrow. In later life he felt, to say the least, ambivalent about the 

time he spent there, but it undoubtedly made a profound impression 

on him. During World War II he told his private secretary 

John Colville that those days had been the unhappiest of his life. 

Nonetheless, Colville noted that the Prime Minister could still repeat 

the school songs by heart, and that, when he returned for a visit 

in December 1940, ‘he made a brilliant impromptu speech to the 

school, saying how much Harrow Songs had meant to him, what 

an inspiration they had been at certain stages of his life, and pointing 

out that although Hitler claimed the Adolf Hitler Schools had 

shown their superiority to Eton, he had forgotten Harrow!’56 (One 

of the songs that Churchill requested on this occasion was ‘Giants’, 

which includes a line paying tribute to ‘the hero-race’.)57 He 

certainly believed that Harrow and the other major public schools 

played an important imperial role, helping ‘produce the type and 

habit of mind which have played so indispensable a part in our 

State and Empire’, and providing its ‘colonists and adventurers’.58


During Churchill’s time there, the headmaster, Revd J. E. C. 

Welldon, was determined to create the imperial habit of mind in his 

pupils. Born in 1854, Welldon had excelled at Cambridge University 

and seemed to be destined for high things. Appointed to the 

headmastership in 1885, he expressed the hope that ‘the liberal 

sentiments of Harrow people will make reform, so far as it is needed, 

comparatively easy.’59 ‘Liberal’ was a relative term; it did not mean 

that Welldon was soft on his pupils. (He once remarked of the 

‘obstreperous, irresponsible’ Churchill that ‘he had birched him 

more frequently than any other boy, but with little effect.’)60 He was 

‘an imposing figure’ whose ‘massive, towering form [. . .] expressed 

authority incarnate’.61 He was also a confirmed imperial ideologue, 

and this was reflected in his management of the school. In his 

memoirs he recalled how an Egyptian pupil had appeared one 

morning with two black eyes. Welldon made some inquiries, sent 

for the boy who had inflicted them and demanded to know why he 

had done it. The boy paused and then said apologetically, ‘Please, 

sir, he said something bad about the British race.’ According to 

Welldon, ‘The only possible reply which I could make was: “That is 

enough, my boy; you may go.”’62


If this makes Welldon sound like the comic caricature of a 

Victorian headmaster, it was not the case that he simply despised 

non-whites. He advised one pupil who joined the Indian Civil 

Service on how to treat those over whom he exercised power: ‘you 

know how other Anglo-Indians treat them contemptuously; but 

you must remember that the West owes to the East nearly all the 

most precious part of its heritage, and then no native of India will 

seem to you to be unworthy of your tender consideration’.63 Such 

attitudes were undoubtedly deeply patronizing, and a much later 

letter demonstrates the assumptions underlying his imperialism. He 

argued, ‘it is clear to me that the British Government in India does 

not and cannot ultimately rest upon the good-will of the people; 

that the cry of equality among all citizens of the Empire is impracticable, 

because it would mean the subjection of the citizens of the 

West to the far more numerous citizens of the East’.64 The subjection 

of large numbers of Eastern citizens to small numbers of 

Western ones was, by contrast, something that he evidently found 

wholly unproblematic. To him, the British race was the best in the 

world, because it was the one that had ‘most succeeded in combining 

liberty with law, religion with freedom, [and] self-respect with 

respect for other races’.65 In other words, the British capacity for 

racial tolerance was a fundamental part of British racial superiority!


Welldon was an admirer of the Cambridge historian J. R. 

Seeley’s book The Expansion of England (1883), which he credited as 

both a cause and a symbol of Britain’s new-found imperial spirit. (It 

is not clear if Churchill read Seeley’s work himself, but he would 

certainly have encountered its central message, that Britain should 

consciously take charge of its imperial destiny.) Welldon believed 

that it was the duty of teachers to bring before their pupils ‘the 

magnitude and dignity of the British Empire’; the history and 

geography of Empire were to be made into ‘powerful educational 

instruments’.66 Other masters at the school took their cue from 

Welldon.67 The kind of imperial education that Welldon espoused 

had a significant impact on Churchill. He observed during his first 

parliamentary election campaign that the British people needed to 

be imperialistic ‘because we shall thereby learn geography’, a remark 

that may have been unconsciously revealing of this.68 The school 

rewarded expressions of national and imperial pride by the boys. 

When Churchill wrote an essay describing an imaginary future 

invasion of Russia by Britain – illustrating ‘the superiority of John 

Bull over the Russian Bear’ – his English teacher was so impressed 

that he kept it.69 After an outbreak of influenza swept across Europe 

in 1890, Churchill wrote a poem recounting the progress of the 

epidemic, and urging:







God shield our Empire from the might


Of war or famine, plague or blight


And all the powers of Hell,


And keep it ever in the hands


Of those who fought ’gainst other lands


Who fought & conquered well.70







For this he won a house prize.


The imperial content of the curriculum should not be overstated. 

One of Churchill’s history notebooks, dealing with the 

eighteenth century, has survived. Aside from a brief reference 

to ‘Colonial Causes’ of the Seven Years War, the British Empire 

receives no mention.71 But formal teaching was not all. Welldon 

made much of ‘the festivals of the Empire’ and tried to bring the 

pupils into contact ‘with the leaders of imperial thought and 

action’.72 This meant bringing lecturers to the school, including, in 

Churchill’s time, Lord Wolesley, leader of the Canadian Red River 

expedition of 1870, and H. M. Stanley (of Dr Livingstone fame) 

who spoke on ‘African Exploration’.73 Churchill was particularly 

impressed by a talk given by G. R. Parkin, a well-known Canadian 

advocate of imperial federation – the idea that all parts of the 

Empire should be represented in the Parliament at Westminster. 

This was a notion that Lord Randolph considered ‘moonshine’.74 

Although he did not become a profound enthusiast for it, Winston 

Churchill did argue as a young man that the colonies ‘must be 

federated’, and continued to make nods towards the idea into the 

1920s.75 Parkin’s imagery made a vivid impression on him, and he 

could still remember it decades later. Parkin said that at the Battle 

of Trafalgar, Nelson had signalled to his fleet ‘England expects that 

every man will do his duty’. He continued: ‘if you take the steps 

that are necessary to bind together and hold together the great 

Empire to the Crown, and if at some future time danger and peril 

strikes at the heart and life of that Empire, then the signal will run, 

not along a line of battle ships but a line of nations’. Churchill, as 

he told Parkin when he met him after World War I, believed that 

the Empire’s loyalty to Britain during that conflict was a vindication 

of this dream.76


There is a strong case to be made for Harrow’s influence not 

only on Churchill but on a whole generation of politicians. Welldon 

counted 1923 as the school’s annus mirabilis. Not only were the new 

Prime Minister, Stanley Baldwin, and many of his ministers Old 

Harrovians, but so was the Archbishop of Canterbury, ‘to say 

nothing of three Harrovians among members of Parliament in the 

Labour Party’.77 It is important to note, though, that the school did 

not produce a uniform stamp of mind, even amongst those of its 

students who became ardent imperialists and members of the same 

Tory cabinets. The point is proved by the example of Leo Amery, 

one of the ministers Welldon had in mind. A year older than 

Churchill, Amery was born in India, where his father was an official 

in the forestry commission. (His mother, incidentally, was Jewish – 

a point he concealed in his memoirs.)78 When he was three, his 

parents split up and he moved with his mother to Britain; he never 

went back to India again. Amery had a strong interest in the Empire 

even before arriving at the school. At the start of his first term, one 

master, Mr Stogdon, asked the boys what they thought was the 

most political event of the summer. There was general silence, 

except from Amery who, to Stogdon’s delight, replied ‘the Nizam of 

Hyderabad’s offer to the Queen to supply money and troops in case 

of trouble with Russia’.79


His first encounter with Churchill came at Harrow when the 

latter deliberately pushed him into the swimming pool. On being 

told that his victim was in the sixth-form, Churchill determined to 

apologize, telling him, ‘I mistook you for a Fourth Form boy. You 

are so small.’ This did not go down very well, but Churchill then 

deftly placated Amery by telling him that Lord Randolph, who was 

a great man, was also small.80 Not only did Amery and Churchill 

share many of the same influences, but their early careers had much 

in common. Both had success as journalists before becoming Tory 

MPs. Nevertheless, Amery’s concept of imperialism was sharply 

divergent from Churchill’s. They were political antagonists during 

Churchill’s period in the Liberal Party after 1904; their differences 

over imperial trade were symbolic of the ideological contrast between 

them. They clashed repeatedly over policy, even when reunited as 

members of Baldwin’s Conservative Cabinet in 1924–9. In the 1930s 

they both found themselves in the political wilderness as opponents 

(in somewhat differing ways) of the policy of appeasement. After 

1940, when Amery served as Churchill’s Secretary of State for India, 

they had serious disagreements once more, this time over the speed 

of Indian political reform. Harrow had certainly made its impression 

on both, but it did not turn out identikit imperialists.


Welldon’s own career never lived up fully to its early promise. 

In 1898 he was appointed Bishop of Calcutta, a post in which, 

Churchill believed, he was not happy: ‘The East without wife, 

woman, sport, war, authority or friends seems to me a vy bad 

bargain’.81 For Welldon, the shortage of women was perhaps not a 

great problem; he was unmarried, and his lifetime relationship with 

his manservant was one of ‘complete devotion’.82 In India, however, 

his determination to convert the population to Christianity led to 

conflict with Lord Curzon, the Viceroy, who was more pragmatically 

inclined, and Welldon resigned in 1902 on grounds of ill health.83 

(Churchill also rejected Welldon’s view, arguing that ‘the Asiatic 

derives more real benefit from the perfect knowledge and practice of 

his own religion – albeit inferior – than from the imperfect and partial 

comprehension of Christianity.’)84 After his return to England he 

served as Dean of Manchester and then of Durham, and, before 

his death in 1937, he kept an eye on Churchill’s career. In 1923 

Welldon observed that Churchill had ‘shown more of the public 

school spirit’ than some other leading politicians, but he disapproved 

of his decision to publish confidential wartime documents in his 

book The World Crisis, noting, ‘It is now taken as an axiom that 

everything must be told [. . .] without much or any regard to the 

danger of creating a false impression or of conveying information in 

a rather unpatriotic spirit.’85 And when Churchill campaigned against 

greater self-government for India, Welldon came down firmly on the 

other side. In 1935 he wrote to the wife of Sir Samuel Hoare, Secretary 

of State for India (who was also an Harrovian), praising his Government 

of India Bill, which Churchill so vigorously opposed. ‘If he 

[Hoare] can effect, as I hope he may, what will be a practically 

pacific revolution in the constitutional history of India, he will live 

in history as one of the principal benefactors, not of India only, 

but of the British Empire.’86 In other words, although Churchill’s 

imperial attitudes are often explained with reference to his Victorian 

background, other Victorians who contributed to and shared that background 

were frequently able to take different (and sometimes more 

liberal) approaches. Jawaharlal Nehru, who attended Harrow in the 

Edwardian period, testified that the school’s atmosphere was in fact 

far from stifling. In 1950 he and Churchill attended a dinner for 

Old Harrovians at Westminster. One of the organizers recalled:







Winston had once during the troubles in India put Nehru 

under arrest for a time, but we felt sure that this would not be 

allowed to rankle, nor did it. The toast to Nehru was proposed 

by Winston in the felicitous manner of which only he was 

capable. Nehru replied and referred to his time at Harrow. He 

said he left Harrow with a feeling of regret. He could not say 

why he had this feeling. He had thought about it since and had 

come to the conclusion that he had learnt something at Harrow 

that served him well in later life: that, before you make a 

decision, always bear in mind that there are two sides to every 

question.87







Churchill, then, was not merely a sponge, absorbing the propaganda 

of his schoolmasters without question. His imperialism, already 

strong by the time he entered Sandhurst, was to receive a further 

unique imprint from his own direct experience, and from the books 

that, sensing the gaps in his education, he anxiously sought out.







III





After Harrow, Churchill went to Sandhurst, his father having decided 

he was not bright enough for the Bar. Here too imperial messages 

were in evidence: the inside of the Royal Memorial Chapel was 

decorated with plaques commemorating graduates killed fighting in 

Empire and other campaigns.88 Churchill worked hard although, as 

he later recalled, he and his fellow cadets believed there was little 

chance of them ever making practical use of their training. It seemed 

a shame that – as they believed – the era of war between ‘civilized’ 

countries had ended. Fortunately, though, there were still ‘savages 

and barbarous peoples’ such as the Afghans, the Zulus and the Sudanese 

Dervishes. ‘Some of these might, if they were well-disposed, “put 

up a show” some day.’89 Although he sometimes used racist epithets,90 

Churchill was prepared to deal with individuals on equal terms if 

they were ‘civilized’, which in practice meant rich and well educated 

or, in the case of one Afghan officer with whom he and some friends 

dined, good at billiards. (‘Everyone likes him,’ he told his mother.91) 

Meanwhile, Churchill continued to absorb the imperial culture of 

the day. His love of the music hall, as shown by his Empire Theatre 

escapade, might not appear important at first sight, but patriotism 

and imperialism were staples of this form of entertainment. Dance 

pageants such as ‘Our Empire’ and songs like ‘It’s the English-Speaking 

Race against the World’ were typical.92 Although he was later 

dismissive of the slogans of the ‘pothouse Music Hall’ and of the 

‘cheap Imperialist productions’ of the popular press (though he 

thought the latter did some good amongst the ‘vulgar’ classes),93 he 

clearly enjoyed the music hall atmosphere enough to defend it against 

the puritans, and it is hard to believe that he was altogether indifferent 

to the ideological messages that it conveyed.


Having completed his training, Churchill joined the Fourth 

Hussars, a cavalry regiment, in February 1895, less than a month 

after Lord Randolph’s death. He determined to make the most of 

his generous leave entitlement before the regiment shipped to India 

and so, the following winter, he and a friend travelled to Cuba via 

New York. They had chosen this destination because they wanted 

to get a taste of war at first-hand: the island was in the throes of 

rebellion against Spanish rule. It was also a chance for Churchill to 

earn a little bit of money and fame, by contracting to provide 

articles on the conflict to the Daily Graphic. He accompanied the 

Spanish forces as they tried to hunt down the insurgents and, on his 

twenty-first birthday, heard shots fired in anger for the first time. 

His initial sympathy for the rebels dwindled as he began to see how 

pained the Spanish were at the prospect of losing their treasured 

colonial possession; his discovery that they had similar feelings to 

the British in this respect came as a rather uncomfortable surprise.94 

He told the Graphic’s readers that Spanish administration was 

corrupt to the point that made rebellion inevitable and justifiable, 

but the rebels themselves were mere brigands, and Cuban autonomy 

was not a practical possibility.95 He made no suggestion that 

imperial rule per se – rather than the specifically Spanish version of 

it – was at fault. Indeed, he wrote to Bourke Cockran, a prominent 

Democrat politician whom he had met in New York, that he hoped 

the US would not force Spain to disgorge Cuba – unless America 

itself was prepared to take on the responsibility of governing her. 

Cockran’s reply has not survived, but apparently he found that idea 

unpalatable, preferring that the Cubans should rule themselves.96 

This was an early hint of the difference in British and American 

attitudes to Empire and national independence movements that 

would take on such importance during the most crucial phase of 

Churchill’s career.


Churchill’s regiment shipped out to India in September 1896. 

One book he read by way of preparation was Twenty-One Days in 

India by George Aberigh-Mackay. This ‘brilliant though little-known 

writer’, as Churchill later described him, had been Principal of 

Rajkumar College, Indore.97 Originally published in serial form in 

the Bombay Gazette in 1880, the year before the author’s death at 

thirty-three, the book was subtitled The Tour of Sir Ali Baba K.C.B., 

and formed a satirical look at a range of Indian and Anglo-Indian 

‘types’. These ranged from the ‘Great Ornamental’ Viceroy, ‘absolutely 

and necessarily withdrawn from all knowledge of India’, to the 

‘Bengali Baboo’, ‘Full of inappropriate words and phrases’.98 

Churchill was advised to read the book by a family friend in the 

Indian Civil Service. In 1942 he in turn sent a copy to William 

Phillips, who was about to go to Delhi as President Roosevelt’s 

personal representative. He acknowledged that the world Aberigh-Mackay described had long since passed; nevertheless, there were 

‘serious things beneath the surface of this old book’ which gave 

‘a sweeping glance at a vast, marvellous scene’.99 At some point 

during his time in India Churchill read Sir George Chesney’s Indian 

Polity, which argued that ‘the state of anarchy and universal strife 

throughout the land, which was replaced by the peace everywhere 

established under British rule, must have been attended with a 

degree of suffering which far outweighs the defects inseparable from 

a rule by foreigners’.100 Such arguments, which were to be echoed 

by Churchill in the 1930s, were the commonplaces of the time.


Churchill’s views of what to expect from India would already 

have been conditioned by his boyhood reading. At school he had 

read standard juvenile literature such as Every Boy’s Annual, which 

contained military adventure stories of the kind often credited with 

helping instil an imperial mentality in Victorian youth.101 Churchill’s 

own adventures would in turn be held up as a model for later 

generations. Hastings Ismay, his key military aide during World 

War II, recalled how, as a young soldier, he had aimed to emulate 

his future boss’s early career.102 In the 1950s, Churchill’s life was 

serialized in strip-cartoon form in the Eagle, a weekly publication 

intended as a wholesome alternative to the prevalent American 

‘horror comics’.103


Churchill was also a fan of two of the most classic imperialist 

writers. As a teenager, he begged a meeting with H. Rider Haggard, 

who afterwards sent him a copy of his novel Allan Quatermain.104 He 

was a great admirer of Rudyard Kipling’s writing too (although, as 

with Haggard, he did not think all of his books were of equal 

quality), as were many of his fellow soldiers in India. He noted that, 

when fighting on the North-West Frontier in 1897, he often heard 

one of Kipling’s poems, ‘Arithmetic on the Frontier’, quoted.105 In 

1899, Kipling caught pneumonia, and it seemed he might die. 

Churchill thought this would be a ‘terrible loss to the English 

speaking world’.106 Kipling actually lived for almost another four 

decades, but, although they met on a number of occasions, he never 

reciprocated Churchill’s respect for him. During the latter’s period 

as a Liberal Kipling remarked of him that ‘it is impossible to cure a 

political prostitute from whoring’.107 After the 1922 general election 

he gloated over Churchill’s loss of his seat.108 Churchill was aware 

of this hostility, but claimed, in his public tribute after Kipling’s 

death in 1937, that their joint opposition to Indian self-government 

had ended their estrangement.109 This was at best only partially 

true. Kipling was actually not as hard line on India as Churchill 

was, and wrote in 1935, ‘The only point at which, I personally, 

would draw the line in present politics, would be in following Mr 

W. Churchill.’110 Churchill was a man who ‘very many praise but 

dam-few follow’.111 However, this is no reason to doubt the sincerity 

of Churchill’s own claims to have been influenced by Kipling. As he 

put it in his eulogy, ‘Although in my political actions I was often 

fiercely opposed to him, yet there was never a moment when I did 

not feel the surge of his appeal upon the great verities of our race 

and State.’ He also claimed on this occasion that, even if Britain’s 

Indian Empire should cease to exist, Kipling’s works would ‘remain 

to prove that while we were there we did our best for all’.112


Churchill’s own first impressions of the Indian scene were 

favourable. The regiment was stationed at Bangalore, where the 

climate was good, with cool nights, mornings and evenings providing 

relief from the heat of the day. The officers were not given quarters, 

but instead were provided with a lodging allowance, so Churchill 

and two friends shared an impressive white and pink bungalow set 

in an extensive garden. Each of them had the services of a ‘Butler’ 

(Churchill put the term in quotation marks), a First Dressing Boy, a 

Second Dressing Boy, and a groom for every horse or pony they 

owned. In addition, the household shared two gardeners, three 

water carriers, four washer-men and one watchman.113 This all had 

to be paid for, of course, and officers’ salaries and allowances were 

grossly inadequate in relation to the manner in which they were 

expected to live – a manner which served its own purpose of 

impressing the local population. Churchill was paid around £300 a 

year, including an allowance for keeping two horses, supplemented 

by £500 a year from his mother.114 The combined total was no 

negligible sum – it was roughly equivalent to £46,000 in 2009 

prices. But Lord Randolph had not died rich, and neither Winston 

nor Lady Randolph was good at managing finance, so money was a 

constant bone of contention between them. Even a life of massive 

privilege can have its irritations.


Life in Bangalore was comfortable, if boring. The regiment was 

on parade by six o’clock in the morning, but drills and other military 

duties were complete by half-past ten. After that it was too hot to 

do anything much until five, which was the hour for playing polo. 

Churchill was an enthusiast for the game, which was lucky for him 

as there were so few other ways of passing the time. Of ancient 

Indo-Persian origin, the sport had been adopted and standardized 

by the British, many of whom saw this process as evidence of the 

benefits of imperial rule. One sports writer suggested, for example, 

that ‘the order-loving and disciplined minds of the Westerns have 

organised a game which was a wild helter-skelter into a careful, 

scientific and military sport. These things are an allegory, and the 

polo of East and West may to the careful observer give a suggestion 

why in war and government the West ever prevails.’115 The game 

appealed to upper-class Indians for rather different reasons. Dangerous 

and highly expensive (a point not lost on the cash-strapped 

Churchill), it was a way for princes – in the absence of war – to 

demonstrate their personal courage and elite status.116 Polo competitions 

also provided a rare opportunity for Indians and Englishmen 

to meet on something like equal terms. In his first book, The Story 

of the Malakand Field Force, Churchill recognized this, arguing that 

the game had improved relations between British officers and the 

princes, and should therefore be counted as ‘an Imperial factor’. 

He did not think it likely that Indian army officers would ever serve 

on an equal footing with British ones, ‘but if it should ever come to 

pass, the way will have been prepared on the polo ground’.117


Churchill excelled as a member of the regimental team, which, 

within six weeks of the Fourth Hussars’ arrival in India, had won 

the prestigious Golconda Cup at Hyderabad. But polo could not be 

everything, and Churchill was understandably eager to broaden his 

horizons. Even before leaving England he had started to seek out 

the books that would give him the intellectual polish he felt he 

lacked as a consequence of his ‘purely technical’ education.118 Now, 

he launched into his reading programme with alacrity, starting with 

Gibbon. It was certainly not the case that everything he read had 

some explicit imperial theme. Undoubtedly, though, his thinking 

about empire was profoundly affected by much of what he absorbed 

in the long, hot afternoons between duty and polo.


It has been claimed that ‘Churchill supported the British 

Empire largely for Gibbonian reasons’. Whereas Gibbon, while 

despising ancient Rome’s political despotism, believed that its 

empire brought concrete benefits to the ruled, Churchill thought 

that Britain had achieved a double advantage by spreading such 

benefits in combination with liberty.119 Certainly, Churchill repeatedly 

referenced Gibbon throughout his career, and many similarities 

can be traced in terms of thinking as well as literary style. Yet 

this influence should not be blown out of proportion, and needs 

to be considered alongside that of other authors. After Gibbon, 

Churchill tackled Thomas Babington Macaulay’s History of England, 

and also his essays. As with Gibbon, the style had an effect on his 

own, and he was to quote him at some significant points in the 

future. Notably, he picked up on a remark in Macaulay’s essay on 

Warren Hastings describing the iniquities of eighteenth-century 

British rule in India. Macaulay referred to ‘the most frightful of all 

spectacles, the strength of civilisation without its mercy’.120 Churchill 

deployed this same imagery in The Story of the Malakand Field Force, 

although he used it to describe not British abuses but rather what 

happened when tribesmen got hold of modern weapons.121 During 

the Commons debate in 1920 on the notorious Amritsar massacre 

– when, at a time of nationalist disturbances, British forces shot into 

a crowd of unarmed Indians – he used it in the original sense, to 

deplore the killing of defenceless civilians.122 This did not mean that 

he, any more than Macaulay, entertained doubts about the fundamental 

virtues of British rule. Rather, he was making the claim that 

that rule did not depend exclusively on physical force, and that it 

was incumbent upon the rulers, given their vast military superiority 

over the indigenous population, to exercise restraint. The subject 

peoples of the Empire were to rely for their welfare, then, on the 

elevated moral qualities of their conquerors.


A far more obscure yet nonetheless important influence was 

Winwood Reade’s book The Martyrdom of Man, which was recommended 

to Churchill by his commanding officer, Colonel John 

Brabazon. This has been described as ‘a classic of Victorian atheism’ 

which left Churchill with a ‘sombre vision of a godless universe’.123 

In fact, Reade was not an atheist (although his arguments were 

sufficiently shocking that contemporaries understood him to be one) 

but merely an anti-Christian. He argued that ‘God is so great that 

he does not deign to have personal relations with us human atoms 

that are called men’.124 Furthermore, his world view could actually 

be described as one of wild, unabashed optimism about the possibilities 

of human progress. Reade, an explorer and failed novelist, 

published his epic work in 1872, three years before his death at the 

age of thirty-six, his health having broken down after a third and 

final visit to Africa. Although the book met much hostility, it continued 

to sell in significant numbers. (Amongst those it influenced 

was H. G. Wells, another author Churchill admired greatly.)125 

Churchill, in his memoirs, focused on the blow Reade dealt to his 

religious beliefs; although initially shocked by what he read, he 

found Reade’s message confirmed by Gibbon’s secular viewpoint 

and by the works of W. E. H. Lecky, who believed that old superstitions 

would die away as the spirit of rationalism grew.126 (He also 

emphasized that his resulting anti-religious phase was short-lived, 

although in reality his belief in conventional Christianity never 

recovered.)127 Equally important, arguably, was Reade’s impact on 

his thinking about Empire and human development.128


The book’s message needs to be understood in the context of 

an intellectual atmosphere much influenced by Charles Darwin 

(with whom Reade had corresponded). It was common to apply 

Darwinian insights not only to the social competition between 

individuals but also to that between nations. It was widely believed 

that – as Joseph Chamberlain was to put it later – the day of the 

small nations had passed, and that of empires had arrived. In order 

to survive in a predatory world, states needed to expand in order to 

maximize their populations and natural resources.129 The first part 

of The Martyrdom of Man consisted of a reckless romp through 

thousands of years of world history, leading to the conclusion that 

war had acted as ‘the chief agent of civilisation’ in the ancient 

world.130 The book went on to suggest that the world’s major 

religions (including Islam) had, at certain times and places, served a 

useful social function, stamping out the more primitive beliefs of 

barbarous peoples. They would, however, die away as man became 

more perfect and acquired a true religion that would harmonize 

with his intellect. This progress would be driven by suffering, mental 

as well as physical, which was what Reade meant by ‘the martyrdom 

of man’. Such suffering was inherently undesirable and yet was also, 

paradoxically, the motor of beneficent change. He even argued that 

the slave trade, ‘though cruel and atrocious in itself’ had ‘like most 

wars, been of service to mankind’.131 Not only had it created for 

slave-owners the leisure essential to the cultural achievements of the 

ancient world but also, more recently, awareness of its cruelties had 

stimulated the moral improvement of the Anglo-Saxon peoples as 

they strove towards its abolition. Reade’s attitude to race was equally 

complex (or convoluted). He criticized ‘pride of colour and prejudice 

of race’ while remaining agnostic on the question of whether 

‘negroes are equal in average capacity to the white man’.132 Africans 

could, in his view, be induced to want things that they did not 

positively need, and, thus equipped with the same incentives to work 

as whites had, be brought within the ambit of civilization. But if 

need be European governments should compel them to labour both 

for their own good and for the sake of progress: ‘Children are ruled 

and schooled by force, and it is not an empty metaphor to say that 

savages are children.’133 We may see an echo of this in Churchill’s 

later (much more mildly stated) conviction that Africans, even with 

their basic needs satisfied, had no right to remain idle. They would 

benefit from having their wants multiplied and, like everyone else, 

were ‘bound to go forward and take an honest share in the general 

work of the world’. He too saw Africans (or at least the Kikuyu) as 

educable, if brutish, children, albeit he could certainly have 

absorbed this point of view from many other sources in addition to 

Reade.134 We might even locate in The Martyrdom of Man the origin 

of a famous Churchillian trope. Reade cited an eighteenth-century 

MP’s condemnation of a slave-ship: ‘never was so much suffering 

condensed into so small a space’.135


From Reade’s perspective, Empire and progress went hand in 

hand. The uneducated populations of the world would never begin 

to advance until their property was secure and they enjoyed the 

rights of man, ‘and these they will never obtain except by means 

of European conquest’. Such security, he argued, had been brought 

by the British to the population of India. He criticized the ‘sickly 

school of politicians who declare that all countries belong to their 

inhabitants, and that to take them is a crime’. But in Asia, the 

masses of the people were in fact slaves to their rulers, he claimed. 

‘The conquest of Asia by European Powers is therefore in reality 

emancipation [. . .] Thus war will, for long years yet to come, be 

required to prepare the way for freedom and progress in the East’.136 

It seems that Churchill’s cheerful vision of war as the engine of 

social improvement – which he maintained into the 1940s137 – was 

heavily influenced by Reade. On the eve of his first election 

campaign he told the Midland Conservative Club of his lack of 

enthusiasm for the then ongoing Hague peace conference. ‘It was 

only one more instance of the reaction against the spirit of competition’, 

he said. ‘Destroy the rivalry of men and nations, and all that 

made for the betterment and progress of the world would be 

destroyed’. Decay and degeneration would follow, he argued; the 

‘clear blue ocean of national passion’ was preferable to the ‘stagnant 

pool of international agreement’. This speech, however, revealed 

him to be much more of a British (or at least white) chauvinist than 

Reade was. ‘He [Churchill] cared little for the improvement of the 

human race’, reported the Birmingham Daily Post. ‘The supremacy of 

our own race was good enough for him’.138


In India, Churchill continued his feats of reading. He sought out 

Adam Smith’s Wealth of Nations, Plato’s Republic, and the memoirs 

of the Duc de Saint Simon, amongst others.139 He secured copies of 

the Annual Register from the 1870s and wrote his own comments on 

the debates they recorded. He gave his views, for example, on the 

Indian famine of 1873–4, claiming that the Viceroy had been right 

to refuse demands that he prohibit grain exports. In Churchill’s 

opinion, a food shortage did not justify interfering with the free 

market in such a way. He also expressed approval of the contentious 

Royal Titles Act that had made Queen Victoria Empress of India. 

The ‘natives of India’, he argued, would be ‘impressed by the 

Imperial’. The whole question, he suggested, was trivial, ‘except 

from an Indian aspect. In India these things count.’140 Throughout 

his career, Churchill argued that the Crown was fundamental to the 

Empire, serving as the mystical link which held it together, in spite 

of the weakness of its formal constitutional apparatus. This was, 

perhaps, a way of reconciling his strong emotional attachment to 

the monarchy with his recognition that it had little formal power. 

(Such that it had withered further during the course of his lifetime.) 

These early comments, however, should alert us to the fact that 

there was an instrumental, even cynical, aspect to his championship 

of titles and ceremony. If the pomp associated with the Crown could 

be used to impress ‘the natives’, then so too, as the years went on, 

could it be used as a rhetorical fig-leaf to disguise the increasingly 

naked decline of British power.


This was also the time when Churchill began to write. He later 

recalled that one of his first, unpublished efforts was an attack upon 

an article by George Bernard Shaw ‘which he had written disparaging 

and deriding the British Army in some minor war’.141 By 

April 1897 Churchill had decided that, although he was ‘a Liberal 

in all but name’, his opposition to Home Rule precluded him 

standing for the party at an election. He would therefore adopt 

Lord Randolph’s slogan of ‘Tory Democracy’, campaigning for 

reform at home and imperialism abroad. Britain should remain 

aloof from European politics, he believed, and the colonies should 

contribute more to the motherland’s defence. ‘East of Suez Democratic 

reins are impossible’, he wrote. ‘India must be governed on 

old principles.’142


Were these old principles really so satisfactory? Almost as soon 

as he arrived, Churchill was writing home about the bubonic plague 

that threatened Bombay, and the shortage of rain that threatened 

drought, famine and accompanying riots.143 The blame for these 

disasters should not perhaps have been laid exclusively at the door 

of the British administration – Britain did in fact make an effort to 

help by sending large quantities of vegetable seed.144 Nevertheless, 

they should surely have stimulated more concern than they did. 

Churchill’s attitude to the local population was probably typical of 

Anglo-Indian opinion – his indifference, verging on callousness, 

alternated with occasional twinges of concern. In March 1898 he 

observed in a letter to his younger brother Jack that the plague was 

‘going on merrily’ with four hundred people a day dying in Bombay 

alone. ‘The population however is superabundant.’145 At the end of 

the year the plague came to Bangalore and so rather closer to home. 

Two of Churchill’s grooms were carried off, as were the wife and 

mother of the bearer who had accompanied him to the North-West 

Frontier. Sixty people were dying a day but, as Churchill wrote with 

a hint of disgust, ‘nobody cares a rap & you never hear a word 

about it’.146 Soon, the epidemic began to subside, and he said little 

more about the subject himself. Earlier, he had visited Hyderabad 

with Pamela Plowden, his first love, to whom he had recently been 

introduced during a polo tournament. They had to travel into the 

city on an elephant, because Europeans would be spat at if they 

walked in the streets, ‘which provokes retaliation leading to riots’.147 

Such signs of Indian discontent did not disturb his initial sense that 

England was fulfilling her ‘high mission’ to rule over the ‘primitive 

but agreeable’ local population in an entirely benevolent way.148 

The prevailing racial attitudes of the British in India certainly 

rubbed off on him. ‘When you learn to think of a race as inferior 

beings it is difficult to get rid of that way of thinking’, he acknowledged 

in the 1950s; ‘when I was a subaltern the Indian did not seem 

to me equal to the white man’.149


In the spring of 1897 Churchill returned home on leave. It was 

while he was there that he made his speech to the Bath Primrose 

League on the ‘splendour’ of the Empire. (Naturally, he did not 

share with his audience the fact that he found the particular part of 

the Empire to which he had been sent tedious rather than splendid.) 

His early imperial education was not yet finished. Not only was the 

formative experience of his military campaigning across the Empire 

still to come, but he was keenly aware that his knowledge even of 

India was woefully incomplete. As he complained to his mother, he 

had no access, as a mere subaltern, to people of influence and 

expertise; and he had no time for the ‘despicable’ Indian press (from 

which he could perhaps have learnt more than he chose to).150 

Nevertheless, it is clear that he had learnt to think imperially – not 

merely in the sense of having a sentimental attachment to the 

Empire, but in having developed his own rationale for it. His world 

view, as articulated to the Tories of Bath, was pretty orthodox; 

Winwood Reade had convinced him that Christianity might be 

false, but not that it was ‘wise or expedient to say so’.151 One might 

say, then, that he had reached an apparently conventional viewpoint 

by a somewhat unconventional route. Primed by his Harrow education 

and the imperial culture of the time, his encounter with 

heterodoxy led him to view international relations as an evolutionary 

battle, but never to question the idea that Britain, because of its 

inherent superiority, would be able to win that struggle. Ultimately, 

he thought, such a victory would be for the good of the world as a 

whole, but in practical (and electioneering) terms the welfare of the 

rest of the world was low on his list of priorities. The notion that 

thinking imperially meant thinking always of ‘something higher and 

more vast than one’s own national interests’ was one that at this 

stage remained alien to him.







IV





Churchill freely conceded that he was a ‘child of the Victorian era’.152 

In the interwar period and beyond, though, the term ‘Victorian’ 

had become practically a term of abuse, the equivalent, when the 

Empire was discussed, of ‘reactionary’. The surprising thing is that 

his Victorian background was used against him not just by political 

progressives, but by imperialists within the Conservative Party who 

were themselves of a similar vintage to Churchill. In 1929, when 

Baldwin (b. 1867) pondered making Churchill Secretary of State for 

India, the Viceroy, Lord Irwin (b. 1881), advised him not. Irwin 

suggested that Churchill held antediluvian opinions, writing that he 

‘has always been a much more vigorous Imperialist in the 

1890–1900 sense of the word than you and me’.153 A later Viceroy, 

Lord Wavell (b. 1883), remarked that Churchill ‘has still at heart his 

cavalry subaltern’s idea of India; just as his military tactics are 

inclined to date from the Boer War’.154 Leo Amery (b. 1873) 

believed, for his part, that ‘the key to Winston is to realise that he is 

a Mid Victorian, steeped in the politics of his father’s period, and 

unable ever to get the modern point of view’.155 Even Churchill’s 

doctor, Lord Moran (b. 1882), had a view. He wrote of Churchill’s 

attitude to the Chinese: ‘Winston thinks only of the colour of their 

skin; it is when he talks of India or China that you remember he is 

a Victorian.’156


Describing Churchill’s attitudes as ‘Victorian’ may in part have 

been a convenient way for those who opposed him to stress the 

contrasting ‘modernity’ of their own imperial views. Or perhaps 

Churchill did to some extent suffer a genuine case of arrested 

development. Either way, we can see the limitations of the suggestion 

that Churchill’s later opinions were the inevitable product of a 

Victorian upbringing per se. And, whether or not it is right to 

criticize his views on issues such as race, it can scarcely be considered 

anachronistic to do so, when his own contemporaries did not 

hold back themselves. By the time he had reached the threshold of 

his public career, he had absorbed a particular version of imperialism, 

but not one that was universally held. No homogeneous view 

of Empire existed in late-Victorian Britain; there was in fact vibrant 

debate, not about the Empire’s inherent validity, but about how its 

interests could best be pursued. Churchill’s first real military excursion, 

on the Indian frontier in 1897, led to his wholehearted launch 

into this field of controversy.
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JOLLY LITTLE WARS AGAINST BARBAROUS PEOPLES, 1897–1899





IN 1929 Churchill took up the honorific position of Chancellor of 

Bristol University. In a speech to the students he reflected on his 

own lack of a university education and remembered how his military 

training had led him instead to a period of adventure. He recalled 

how at that time Britain had fought ‘a lot of jolly little wars against 

barbarous peoples’ and how he himself had gone ‘scurrying about 

the world from one exciting scene to another’.1 If this sounds like a 

parody of Victorian imperial adventurism, it is more than possible 

that Churchill was intentionally sending himself up. He was certainly 

capable of humour at his own expense; the persistently ironical tone 

of My Early Life, for example, is part of what gives the book its 

charm. But if it would be unfair to dismiss that book as merely a 

sequence of thrilling scenes – a charge more easily levelled against 

treatments such the 1972 film Young Winston – it is nonetheless 

true that the picture it paints of the Empire is romantic and depoliticized. 

Churchill’s failure to give his readers a full sense of his role in 

fin-de-siècle imperial debates may have been a wise commercial 

decision in the gloomy circumstances of 1930; yet without an 

understanding of that context, his ‘scurrying’ phase is reduced to 

  not much more than the ‘jolly little wars’ of his own caricature. 

  Churchill may have been courageous as a soldier, but when he 

  combined that role with that of journalist, he was by no means 

  always the candid scourge of authority that legend depicts.





I





On the very day in 1897 that Churchill made his first political 

speech at Bath, there was a rising of Pathan tribesmen in the Swat 

Valley on the North-West Frontier of India. The news was reported 

in Britain two days later. After two years of quiet, the garrison at 

Malakand had suddenly been attacked at the behest of a local 

religious leader called Sadullah, dubbed the ‘Mad Mullah’ by the 

British, who was intent on raising jihad. The attack was repulsed, 

but it quickly transpired that the whole valley was up in arms. 

In the view of The Times the episode was simply an example of 

what was to be expected in the early years of occupation of new 

territories. ‘It is absolutely necessary to show the tribesmen without 

delay that we can bring an overwhelming force to act against them 

even in the fastnesses of their own mountains, and to teach them 

that treachery and insurrection will be sharply and swiftly punished’, 

the paper claimed. ‘That is a lesson which we have been obliged to 

teach savage peoples very often in many parts of the world’. If this 

was done then in due course the ‘wild and fanatic’ tribesmen would 

‘subside into loyal soldiers, peaceful husbandmen, and industrious 

traders’.2


That view, however, was far from unanimously held. Colonel H. 

B. Hanna, a veteran of the 1857 mutiny and author of several books 

on Indian questions, wrote to The Times to express his scepticism 

about the so-called ‘forward policy’. That policy involved trying to 

bring independent tribal territories on the frontier under British control. 

It was not based merely on an altruistic desire to civilize the 

tribesmen; rather, it was aimed at countering the influence of Russia 

and the potential threat she posed to India. Hanna argued, though, 

that that threat was not nearly as severe as the policy’s proponents 

claimed, and that the policy itself was provoking the tribesmen.3 

Plenty of other correspondents criticized his views, but Hanna was 

no lone voice. Liberal politicians denounced the government’s folly, 

which, they suggested, was putting the Indian Empire at risk.4 Even 

the arch-imperialist Daily Mail was to describe the idea of turning 

the tribesmen into British subjects as a dangerous and expensive 

fallacy. ‘As long as they are friendly, the caterans of the hills form a 

frontier garrison very formidable to the invader. [. . .] Interference 

exasperates them and changes them from virtual allies into uncompromising 

foes.’5 The proudly independent Afghans naturally 

wanted to repel the British from their borders – which remained illdefined 

– and to stave off a repeat of earlier invasions.


In his published writings at the time, Churchill – like many of 

his contemporaries6 – blamed the rising on Islamic fanaticism. In 

this view, the ignorant and credulous tribespeople were seduced by 

the wave of religious emotion for which Sadullah was the conduit 

and which had been fomented with help from Kabul.7 Because 

fanatics were not amenable to common sense, and because their 

actions threatened the safety of the Empire, they had to be crushed.8 

Interestingly, when he wrote about the episode in My Early Life, he 

dismissed the religious explanation, and suggested that the outbreak 

could be explained ‘on quite ordinary grounds’.9 The chief of these 

was the presence of British troops in lands the local people considered 

their own. Indeed, even at the time Churchill conceded in 

private that the cause of the war was the forward policy itself and 

that it would never have taken place had the British not retained 

the outpost of Chitral after a previous uprising in 1895.10


As soon as he learnt of the rising, Churchill cut short his leave 

and headed back to India. A year earlier, in England, he had 

met Major-General Sir Bindon Blood, the man now appointed to 

lead the Malakand Field Force to put down the trouble. He had 

extracted from Blood – who had led the Chitral relief expedition – 

the promise that, should he ever again command a force on the 

frontier, he would allow Churchill to be a part of it. Churchill 

cabled the general to remind him of this, but to his great frustration 

received no reply until he was actually back in India. Blood 

then told Churchill that he had no places on his personal staff, 

but ‘I should advise your coming to me as a press correspondent, 

and when you are here I shall put you on the strength at the first 

opportunity.’11 Churchill headed for the front straight away. In line 

with Blood’s plan, he got himself accredited to the London Daily 

Telegraph and to the Pioneer, an Allahabad paper on which Rudyard 

Kipling had cut his teeth as a young journalist.


On the face it, the idea that a serving soldier might alternate his 

regular job with that of journalist, at the direct instigation of the 

top brass, might seem a little odd. (Churchill carried on writing for 

the papers even after Blood made him his orderly officer.) But he 

was not receiving a unique favour. The same thing had already 

been done for Viscount Fincastle, who acted as correspondent for 

The Times and then joined the Guides Cavalry after another officer 

was killed. Fincastle went on to win the Victoria Cross for his conspicuous 

bravery in action. Churchill felt some rivalry with him and 

rushed out his own book on the conflict in order that Fincastle 

would not beat him to it. Both men were, in fact, ‘embedded 

correspondents’, for whom the pen and sword (or revolver) were 

interchangeable. It was through the work of such journalists – who 

were subject to strict military control even if they were civilians – 

that tales of war were communicated to the public at home. The 

army’s approach to them was ambivalent. Many commanders 

regarded correspondents as a nuisance with the potential to report 

inconvenient facts; many of the frustrations of Churchill’s early 

career are a testament to this. Others, however – and Blood was 

a case in point – recognized their possible utility as a means of 

communicating the army’s point of view to the British people. As 

Lord Wolseley, the army’s commander-in-chief, once explained, 

generals could make use of correspondents’ thirst for information 

‘by spreading fake news among the gentlemen of the Press’ as a 

means to deceive the enemy.12 There is no evidence that what 

Churchill wrote was subject to direct manipulation, but he was 

certainly induced to see things from the perspective of the commanders. 

(By contrast he did not hold back from criticism of the 

Viceroy’s government based at Simla.) Although he was disquieted 

by some of the horrors he saw during the campaign, he appreciated 

that the unspoken terms of Blood’s offer required discretion. He 

wrote to his grandmother, for example, of the appalling effects that 

the expanding ‘dum-dum’ bullets used by the British had on the 

human body: ‘The picture is a terrible one, and naturally it has a 

side to which one does not allude in print,’13 although he later 

defended their use as being no more likely to cause suffering than 

ordinary bullets.14 (Later still, when the Boers used them against 

the British in South Africa, it was a different story again.)15 Well 

might an article in the Fortnightly Review ask, ‘Can We Rely on Our 

War News?’16


Churchill’s journey to the frontier began with a rail trip from 

Bangalore. Told by the ticket clerk that the distance was 2,027 

miles, he gleefully contemplated the revulsion he thought Little 

Englanders would feel at this vastness of British territory.17 He 

broke his travel at Rawalpindi and, after dinner, paid a visit to the 

sergeants’ mess, where a sing-song was in progress. The best song, 

in Churchill’s view, ran:





Great White Mother, far across the sea,
 

Ruler of the Empire may she ever be.


Long may she reign, glorious and free, 


In the Great White Motherland.18





Suitably inspired by these lofty sentiments he continued on his 

way to Nowshera, the Malakand Field Force’s base of operations. 

From then on, in the extreme heat, he had to travel an uncomfortable 

fifty miles in a horse-drawn tonga to the Malakand Pass. He 

had to wait several days in the British camp before seeing any 

action, but when it came it was dramatic.


On 16 September he took part in a punitive raid in the Mamund 

Valley. As the British forces moved into the valley they saw many 

tribesmen seated in lines on the terraced hillsides, their rifles upright 

beside them. As the British got nearer, bullets started to fly, but the 

skirmish did neither side much harm. Sikh infantrymen moved 

upwards to occupy a village (Indians formed the bulk of the British 

armed forces in India). The enemy seemed to have disappeared; but 

when the British began to retire homewards the tribesmen suddenly 

attacked. Churchill’s newspaper account of the action was somewhat 

veiled, but he admitted to his mother that the retreat had been 

‘an awful rout’ in which the wounded had been horribly mutilated 

by ‘these wild beasts’ of tribesmen. He himself fired forty rifle 

rounds and hit, he thought, four men. He also – with some thought 

of being noticed for his bravery – helped drag away a wounded 

Indian soldier, although the process hurt the man so much that the 

sepoy decided he preferred to stagger down unaided.19 More than 

one in ten of those on the British side were killed or wounded in the 

encounter.20


In the wake of this humiliating battle, Blood ordered that the 

valley be laid waste. Churchill recalled: ‘We proceeded systematically, 

village by village, and we destroyed the houses, filled up the 

wells, blew down the towers, cut down the shady trees, burned the 

crops and broke the reservoirs in punitive devastation.’21 Privately 

he was shocked at the kind of warfare that was taking place – not 

only at the brutality of the tribesmen but also at the British refusal 

to take prisoners, wounded or otherwise.22 On one occasion he 

saw Sikh troops burn a wounded man alive.23 Publicly, though, he 

defended the destruction: ‘Of course, it is cruel and barbarous, as is 

everything else in war, but it is only an unphilosophic mind that will 

hold it legitimate to take a man’s life, and illegitimate to destroy 

his property.’ (This was a false distinction: destroying crops and 

villages inevitably meant that many tribespeople would die of cold 

or starvation.) He argued that domestic critics of the policy, who 

worried about the effects on non-combatants, were deluded to think 

that any such people existed. In fact, he suggested, all the (male) 

inhabitants were combatants from childhood onwards, and all the 

houses were fortified, so that meaningful discrimination was impossible. 

The good sense of the British people would, he felt, lead them 

to agree with these sound and pragmatic conclusions as soon as the 

necessary information was put in front of them.24 ‘I have not soiled 

my hands with any dirty work’, he told his mother, ‘though I 

recognise the necessity of some things.’25


Churchill’s attitude to the men he was fighting was predictably 

negative. In his despatches he described the rebellious Pathans as 

‘vermin’, although he did also concede that they were brave and 

warlike.26 After operations had ended he had the chance to write 

about them in a more reflective way, and in doing so he granted 

that there were occasional moments when lovers of the picturesque 

might feel some sympathy with their hopes and fears. Nevertheless, 

he believed that the Pathans were disposed to treachery and violence 

by virtue of their ‘strong aboriginal propensity to kill’. That propensity 

was compounded by their religion, which in Churchill’s eyes 

was responsible for stimulating ‘a wild and merciless fanaticism’. 

The tribes were dirty, ignorant, superstitious and degraded, he 

claimed. They loved plunder and had an incomprehensible code of 

honour. Their state of mental development, he suggested, was such 

that civilized people would not know whether to laugh or cry. He 

did not believe, though, that they were condemned to degradation 

purely by virtue of their ethnicity. After all, those tribesmen who 

had earlier come over to the British side proved themselves highly 

useful. To him, the Afridi and Pathan companies of the Guides 

Infantry were like ‘a well-trained pack of hounds. Their cries, their 

movements, and their natures are similar.’ Although he viewed these 

soldiers as dirty, lazy spendthrifts (in contrast to the hygienic, thrifty 

Sikhs), he defended them against charges of untrustworthiness.27 

Churchill’s opinions may strike the modern reader as patronizing 

and Islamophobic, but it is important not to romanticize the 

tribesmen, or to suggest that Churchill’s views were completely 

antediluvian. His strictures on the tribes’ treatment of women, for 

example, were by no means unfounded. However, his bald assertion 

‘Civilisation is face to face with militant Mohammedanism’ greatly 

exaggerated the threat that the Empire faced.28





II





Throughout the fighting Churchill did his best to impress his 

superiors through conspicuous bravery (or recklessness). When the 

firing started he carried on riding his pony while others dived for 

cover – but only, as he told Lady Randolph, when there was a chance 

that someone might notice.29 He did not get the medal he longed for, 

and had to be content with a mention in despatches for having ‘made 

himself useful at a critical moment’ during the action of 16 September. 

30 When the fighting in the Mamund Valley came to an end he 

was obliged to return to his regiment and the old routine. By late 

October, barely seven weeks after he had left, he was back in Bangalore. 

He was already bent on writing The Story of the Malakand Field 

Force, which would bring his name before a wider public and help get 

him into politics. (He had been annoyed that his Daily Telegraph letters 

had been published anonymously.) His manuscript was completed by 

the end of the year, with the assistance David Konar, a clerk of 

around his own age, who recalled him as quiet but hard working.31 

On the part of the original manuscript that survives there is a telling 

amendment made by Churchill: ‘the prestige of the dominant race 

enables them to keep up appearances before maintain their superiority 

over the native troops’.32 In his rush to beat Fincastle into print, 

Churchill sacrificed the chance to check the proofs himself and 

entrusted them to his uncle, Moreton Frewen, known as ‘The Mortal 

Ruin’ because of the permanently catastrophic state of his finances. 

The result was an embarrassing series of errors that detracted from 

the book’s genuine literary virtues. The Athenaeum said it resembled 

‘a volume by Disraeli revised by a mad printer’s reader’.33 It remains 

one of Churchill’s most misunderstood works, but when read in 

conjunction with his original despatches and his private letters it 

yields important insights into his early imperial thought.


Many scholars have suggested that the book revealed Churchill 

as an outspoken critic of the government’s frontier policy.34 ‘Winston 

was not timid about criticizing British policy’, we are told. ‘What 

was the point of extending the British presence into the inaccessible 

North-West Frontier?’ he asked. ‘The tribesmen were best left 

alone.’35 He is said to have viewed the forward policy ‘with great 

scepticism’.36 Another writer argues, ‘Churchill opposed the extension 

of the imperial frontier on both financial and moral grounds.’37 

Others show signs of confusion. For example, the official biographer 

claims that Churchill thought the whole Malakand expedition was a 

mistake while simultaneously suggesting that he favoured annexation 

of the borderlands.38 Yet another writer argues that Churchill 

favoured an expansionary policy, albeit ‘not without regrets’.39


So what was Churchill really arguing? In the preface to the 

book, he disclaimed any intention to write a party pamphlet on an 

imperial issue. He had no case to make, he claimed, against any 

policy or person; he had merely recorded the facts.40 This was 

disingenuous. As the United Service Gazette observed, there was an 

obvious disparity between Churchill’s promise of neutrality and his 

actual performance.41 In spite of his protestations, he had a clear 

policy agenda in favour of the forward policy. We can see this by 

tracing in detail the way in which his thinking about the frontier 

had evolved.


He first addressed the question even while the fighting was still 

going on, in a despatch of 21 September 1897. Using a line of 

reasoning that he was to deploy consistently, he suggested that 

although it was not hard to find arguments against the forward 

policy, it was doubtful that it had ever been possible to avoid 

that policy. The forward movement was now, he said, ‘beyond 

recall’. Retreat was impossible, and ‘the more rapid the advance 

the sooner will the troubles of a transition stage be over’. He argued 

for the (very ambitious) frontier Gilgit–Chitral–Jellabad–Kandahar.42 

At first his mother declined to forward this despatch to the Daily 

Telegraph; she appears to have thought it would get her son into 

difficulties with his superiors.43 Churchill assured her that it was not 

the case: ‘Far from getting me into trouble it expresses what is 

essentially the military view.’ He pointed out that his views were 

in line with those of Sir George White, the Commander-in-Chief in 

India.44 Churchill was absolutely right about this. White’s term was 

about to end, and at his farewell dinner he argued that ‘civilization 

and barbarism’ could not coexist peaceably. ‘We hear a great deal 

of abuse of the “forward” policy, but look back on the history of the 

world and you will see that, by fate’s inexorable decree, civilization 

must advance and savagery recede.’45 In the light of this it is 

unsurprising that Churchill’s article, when published, did not cause 

him any problems with the army hierarchy. In the final letter of the 

series, written on 16 October, Churchill argued that the gains from 

trade in the newly pacified valleys would never repay the cost of the 

military expenditure, but that it was impossible to retreat. He also 

remarked that ‘morally, it is unfortunate for the tribesmen that our 

spheres of influence clash with their spheres of existence’.46 When 

he reproduced this observation in his book, the United Service Gazette 

commented that it was not a bad epigram, ‘though to our duller 

comprehension it would seem as if the moral misfortune did not 

attach to the tribesmen’.47


In private, Churchill was more ambivalent. Back in Bangalore 

in October, he wrote to his mother that although the initiators of 

the forward policy bore responsibility for the war, they may in fact 

have found it impossible to act otherwise.





At any rate now we are started we can’t go back and must go 

on. And the sooner the better. Financially it is ruinous. Morally 

it is wicked. Militarily it is an open question, and politically it is 

a blunder. But we can’t pull up now. Annexation is the word 

which the B.P. [British Public] will have ultimately to swallow, 

and the sooner they do it, the sooner things will begin to mend.





He added that Britain would eventually have to absorb territory 

right up to the frontier with Russia.48


Several days later he sent Lady Randolph a tribeswoman’s 

amulet, and commented sarcastically that although it was neither 

valuable nor pretty it was at least ‘a tangible result of the “Forward 

Policy”’. He had found it in a village which had cost the British 

seventy casualties to take, and he thus found it ‘a bitter comment 

on the wild and wasteful course upon which we are now 

embarked’.49 He told another relative that the forward policy was 

‘an awful business’.50 However, he appears to have objected not to 

expansion and annexation per se but rather to the methods by 

which it was being pursued. And even his dislike of those methods 

does not appear to have dented his belief that, having been started, 

the policy should be continued. That was to be the keynote of his 

argument in the final chapter of The Story of the Malakand Field Force, 

which he called ‘The Riddle of the Frontier’.


Churchill, it is true, made some efforts to hedge his bets. He 

emphasized that he was proceeding in a spirit of cautious inquiry, 

and that his conclusions were only a guess. He acknowledged that 

there were plenty of plausible arguments against the forward 

policy. As in his original despatches, he made no attempt to deny 

one of the strongest of these – that it cost more money than it could 

possibly generate in return. However, he believed that, as he put it 

elsewhere in the book, ‘Imperialism and economics clash as often as 

honesty and self-interest’; that is to say, the policy should not be 

rejected on grounds of expense alone.51 And he suggested that 

it was fruitless to argue over whether it had been right to begin it. 

‘We have crossed the Rubicon’, he claimed. It was necessary to find 

a defensible frontier: ‘The old line has been left, and between that 

line and an advanced line continuous with Afghan territory, and 

south of which all shall be reduced to law and order, there does not 

appear to be any prospect of a peaceful and permanent settlement.’ 

This did not mean that he favoured a policy of ‘full steam ahead’, 

as he put it. He ridiculed the idea of a field force operating nonstop 

in the frontier valleys until they had been rendered as pacific 

as Hyde Park, an exercise for which Britain lacked both the 

money and the troops. He preferred instead the system in force 

prior to the uprising – that is one ‘of gradual advance, of political 

intrigue among the tribes, of subsidies and small expeditions’. This, 

it should be noted, was an argument about means and not about 

ends. Churchill did criticize both the government of India and that 

of Britain, not for their advocacy of the forward policy, but rather 

for their failure to advocate it openly. ‘They know they cannot turn 

back. They fully intend to go on. Yet they fear to admit the 

situation, to frankly lay their case before the country, and trust to 

the good sense and courage of an ancient democracy.’52 The 

authorities were thus reproached not with excessive ardour but 

with unnecessary timidity – a criticism which, although it cannot 

have been entirely welcome, was hardly deeply wounding in the 

circumstances.


Contemporaries were quite able to recognize the drift of his 

argument. Although some reviewers took his claim not to be offering 

a political tract at face value,53 many others saw through it. 

In fact, he makes it abundantly clear that he is a strong partisan of 

the most forward “Forward Policy”’, observed the United Service 

Gazette.54 The Pall Mall Gazette likewise noted that ‘he plunges for 

the Forward Policy’.55 The Review of Reviews found that Churchill’s 

political views were ‘not new, being simply a repetition of the stock 

arguments of the advocates of the Forward School’.56 Some reviewers 

expressed approval of Churchill’s stance; others were scornful of 

his extensive territorial ambitions. The Liberal Daily News suggested 

that Churchill was in favour of Britain occupying the whole of 

Afghanistan, as far as its border with Russia. It sneered, ‘If the 

Forwards mean to annex Jellalabad and Candahar, why they may 

just as well finish the job by annexing the city of Cabul and all 

Afghanistan up to and beyond Herat, and shake hands (or exchange 

shots) with the Russian outposts.’57 Of the British papers, only the 

Scotsman’s reviewer seemed in any doubt about what the book was 

arguing, and even he succeeded in puzzling through the policy 

implications in the end: ‘he [Churchill] seems, if we understand 

him aright [. . .] to criticise unfavourably the Forward Policy. But 

then he is still more severe upon the alternative policy, of standing 

still, and upon its advocates; and he holds that having committed 

ourselves to the course of garrisoning the passes and defending 

Afghanistan against aggression, we are bound on all accounts to 

go through with it.’58 One can almost hear the mental cogs turning. 

The Times of India, for its part, offered general applause for 

Churchill’s views on the frontier issue as well as for his defence of 

village-burning. It ventured that although such practices might invite 

condemnation if employed in the course of ‘ordinary international 

warfare’, civilized standards sometimes required ‘considerable qualification’ 

in the special conditions of the North-West Frontier.59 

Churchill visited the paper’s editor and thanked him with a smile: 

‘That’s the very first time any newspaper has ever published a 

leading article about me, but it won’t be the last!’60


Almost as if he desired to erase any remaining ambiguity, 

Churchill followed up his book with an article on ‘The Ethics of 

Frontier Policy’. In it, he repeated the now-familiar argument that 

it was impossible either to turn back or to stand still, and revealed 

the ultimate scope of his ambitions for expansion. ‘The weary march 

of civilization lies onward’, he wrote portentously. ‘We must follow 

it till the Afghan border is reached and thence beyond, until 

ultimately India is divided from Russia only by a line of painted 

signposts’. (The Daily News was proved right.) He also said explicitly 

that his own ideas did not differ fundamentally from the forward 

policy, and that the government’s attitude was to be applauded.61 

In sending a copy of the piece to a friend, he noted that he had 

adopted a ‘circuitous insidious but none the less effective method of 

defending the Forward Policy’.62 His defence of it was not really all 

that subtle; he may have convinced himself he was carrying an 

argumentative rapier, but somewhere along the line he had 

exchanged it for a blunderbuss. His admission that he had tried to 

be ‘insidious’, though, is compelling evidence that we should take 

the reservations in his arguments for the forward policy – which 

appear to have misled many historians – with a generous pinch of 

salt.


Given Churchill’s views on the frontier question, it is hardly 

surprising that The Story of the Malakand Field Force found favour with 

Lord Salisbury, who asked to see Churchill when the latter returned 

to England briefly in the summer of 1898. According to Churchill’s 

later recollection, the Prime Minister praised both the book’s subject 

matter and its style.63 Doubtless, Salisbury would not have shown 

such interest if it had been unreadable, but neither would he have 

done so had he perceived it as an attack on his own policy. Indeed, 

not long before the book came out, he had made a speech in the 

House of Lords in which he used a very similar argument to that 

deployed by Churchill. He opposed, he said, ‘a military forward 

policy’ and yet he argued that a forward policy, secured by other 

means, was ‘inevitable’. The march of civilization could not be 

stopped.64 (As a matter of fact the incoming Viceroy, Lord Curzon, 

successfully abandoned the forward policy, which proves that it was 

not inevitable at all.) Churchill, then, was no Young Turk daringly 

challenging received orthodoxy; rather, he was defending Establishment 

wisdom against the attacks of the heretics. In 1888, Salisbury 

had described small imperial wars as ‘merely the surf that marks the 

edge of the advancing wave of civilisation’.65 Churchill had chosen 

this remark as an epigraph – which was a useful method of currying 

favour and signifying the book’s ideological agenda at the same 

time.66






III





Churchill’s enforced return to his regiment after Malakand irritated 

him. He was eager to see more action and, even before he had 

completed his book, he was agitating for a place on another 

expedition. The tribesmen of the mountainous Tirah region – 

between the Khanki Valley and the Khyber Pass – had exploited 

the opportunity created by the Malakand rising to stage a rebellion 

of their own. General Sir William Lockhart was given command of 

an expeditionary force of 40,000 men to suppress what was the 

most serious anti-British outbreak since the 1857 mutiny. Lord 

George Hamilton, the Secretary of State for India, talked boldly of 

transforming the ‘wild tribesmen’ into loyal subjects, just as the 

Scottish rebels of the eighteenth century had been transformed into 

the Highland regiments now fighting them.67 Those soldiers were 

incredibly brave, but nonetheless incurred heavy losses, provoking 

Liberal criticism of the sacrifice of men and money.68 Having made 

substantial advances, the troops retired for the winter; but as one 

commander later admitted, what was ‘politely called an evacuation 

[. . .] was really a “get away” of the worst type’.69 In January 1898 

– although still hankering to see the fighting himself – Churchill told 

Lady Randolph that the whole expedition had been a mistake. 

Regular troops, which made an ideal target for guerrilla fighters, 

could not ‘catch or kill an impalpable cloud of skirmishers’. Lacking 

the means to subdue the tribesmen, it was wrong to make the 

attempt.70 Yet if these remarks appeared to signal a change in his 

thinking about the frontier question, that change was to be short 

lived.


In March 1898 Churchill’s efforts to get to the front – which 

had included a fruitless visit to Calcutta to lobby the authorities – 

paid off at last. Colonel Ian Hamilton, who had befriended him on 

his journey to England the previous year, made efforts to smooth 

his way. Clever, courageous and charming – ‘brilliant and chivalrous’, 

as Churchill put it – Hamilton had repeatedly showed his 

fearlessness in battle in Afghanistan and elsewhere. He was severely 

wounded during the first Boer War (1881) and was afterwards left 

with a withered hand. In 1891 became the youngest colonel in the 

British army.71
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